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Financial review
Eni’s new organizational structure 
and segment reporting

Effective July 1, 2020, Eni’s management has redesigned the 
macro-organizational structure of the Group, in line with its new 
long-term strategy, disclosed on February 2020 to the market 
and aimed at transforming the Company into a leader in the 
production and marketing of decarbonized energy products. 
The new organization is based on two new Business Groups: 
	Natural Resources, to build up the value of Eni’s Oil & Gas 

upstream portfolio, with the objective of reducing its carbon 
footprint by scaling up energy efficiency and expanding pro-
duction in the natural gas business, and its position in the 
wholesale market. Furthermore, it will focus its actions on the 
development of carbon capture and compensation projects. 
The Business Group will incorporate the Company’s Oil & Gas 
exploration, development and production activities, natural gas 
wholesale via pipeline and LNG. In addition, it will include for-
ests conservation (REDD+) and carbon storage projects. The 
company Eni Rewind (environmental activities), will also be 
consolidated in this Business Group. 

	Energy Evolution, will focus on the evolution of the businesses 
of power generation, transformation and marketing of products 
from fossil to bio, blue and green. In particular, it will focus on 
growing power generation from renewable energy and biom-
ethane, it will coordinate the bio and circular evolution of the 
Company’s refining system and chemical business, and it will 
further develop Eni’s retail portfolio, providing increasingly more 
decarbonized products for mobility, household consumption 
and small enterprises. The Business Group will incorporate the 
activities of power generation from natural gas and renewa-
bles, the Refining and Chemicals businesses, Retail Gas & Pow-
er and mobility Marketing. The companies Versalis (chemical 
products) and Eni gas e luce will also be consolidated in this 
Business Group.

The new organization represents a fundamental step to imple-
ment Eni’s strategy to become leader in the supply of decar-
bonized products by 2050 combining value creation, sustaina-
bility and financial resilience.
In re-designing the Group’s segment information for financial 
reporting purposes, the management evaluated that the com-

ponents of the Company whose operating results are regularly 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CEO) to make 
decisions about the allocation of resources and to assess 
performances would continue being the single business units 
which are comprised in the two newly-established Business 
Groups, rather than the two groups themselves. Therefore, in 
order to comply with the provisions of the international report-
ing standard that regulates the segment reporting (IFRS 8), the 
new reportable segments of Eni, substantially confirming the 
pre-existing setup, are identified as follows:
	Exploration & Production: research, development and pro-

duction of oil, condensates and natural gas, forestry conser-
vation (REDD+) and CO2 capture and storage projects. 

	Global Gas & LNG Portfolio: supply and sale of wholesale 
natural gas by pipeline, international transport and purchase 
and marketing of LNG. It includes gas trading activities final-
ized to hedging and stabilizing the trade margins, as well as 
optimising the gas asset portfolio. 

	Refining & Marketing and Chemicals: supply, processing, dis-
tribution and marketing of fuels and chemicals. The results of 
the Chemicals segment were aggregated with the Refining & 
Marketing performance in a single reportable segment, because 
these two operating segments have similar economic returns. It 
comprises the activities of trading oil and products with the aim 
to execute the transactions on the market in order to balance the 
supply and stabilize and cover the commercial margins. 

	Eni gas e luce, Power & Renewables: retail sales of gas, elec-
tricity and related services, production and wholesale sales 
of electricity from thermoelectric and renewable plants. It in-
cludes trading activities of CO2 emission certificates and for-
ward sale of electricity with a view to hedging/optimising the 
margins of the electricity. 

	Corporate and Other activities: includes the main business 
support functions, in particular holding, central treasury, IT, hu-
man resources, real estate services, captive insurance activi-
ties, research and development, new technologies, business 
digitalization and the environmental activity developed by the 
subsidiary Eni Rewind. 

According to the requirements of IFRS 8, 2019 and 2018 com-
parative periods have been restated to adjust them to the 
change of the segment information, as follows:

2019 2018

(€ million) As published As restated As published As restated
Adjusted net profit (loss) 8,597 8,597 11,240 11,240
Exploration & Production 8,640 8,640 10,850 10,850
Gas & Power 585 543
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 193 278
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 21 21 380 360
EGL, Power & Renewables 370 262
Corporate and other activities (624) (602) (606) (583)
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination and other consolidation adjustments (25) (25) 73 73
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Sales from operations 43,987 69,881 75,822 (25,894) (37.1)
Other income and revenues 960 1,160 1,116 (200) (17.2)
Operating expenses (36,640) (54,302) (59,130) 17,662 32.5
Other operating income (expense) (766) 287 129 (1,053) ..
Depreciation, depletion, amortization (7,304) (8,106) (6,988) 802 9.9
Net impairment reversals (losses) of tangible 
and intangible and right-of-use assets (3,183) (2,188) (866) (995) (45.5)
Write-off of tangible and intangible assets (329) (300) (100) (29) (9.7)
Operating profit (loss) (3,275) 6,432 9,983 (9,707) ..
Finance income (expense) (1,045) (879) (971) (166) (18.9)
Income (expense) from investments (1,658) 193 1,095 (1,851) ..
Profit (loss) before income taxes (5,978) 5,746 10,107 (11,724) ..
Income taxes (2,650) (5,591) (5,970) 2,941 52.6
Tax rate (%) .. 97.3 59.1   
Net profit (loss) (8,628) 155 4,137 (8,783) ..
attributable to:  
- Eni's shareholders (8,635) 148 4,126 (8,783) ..
- Non-controlling interest 7 7 11   

Impact of COVID-19 pandemic

The trading environment in 2020 saw the largest oil demand 
drop in history (down by an estimated 9% y-o-y) driven by the 
lockdown measures implemented at global scale to contain the 
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic causing a material hit to eco-
nomic activity, international commerce and travel, mainly during 
the peak of the crisis in the first and second quarter of 2020.
The shock in hydrocarbon demand occurred against the back-
drop of a structurally oversupplied oil market, as highlighted by 
the disagreements among OPEC+ members in the response to 
be adopted to manage the crisis in early March 2020. The pro-
ducing Countries of the cartel decided against maintaining the 
existing quotas and as a result the market was inundated with 
production while demand was crumbling. Those developments 
led to a collapse in commodity prices. 
At the peak of the downturn, between March and April, the Brent 
marker price fell to about 15 $/barrel, the lowest level in over 
twenty years. The oversupply drove oil markets into contango, a 
situation when prices for prompt delivery quote below prices for 
future deliveries, while both land and floating storages reached 
the highest technical filling levels.
Since May, oil prices have been staging a turnaround thanks to 
a comprehensive agreement reached within OPEC+ on imple-
menting record production cuts as well as an ongoing recovery 
in the world economy and oil consumption following an ease in 
restrictive measures and driven in large part by a strong rebound 
of activity in China. Brent prices recovered to almost 45 $/barrel 
in summer months.
However, during the autumn months the macroeconomic re-
bound hit a standstill in the USA and in Europe due to a resur-
gence in virus cases, which forced the governments and local 
authorities in those Countries to reinstate partial or full lock-

downs and other restrictive measures that weighted heavily on 
oil and products demands as millions of people continued living 
in partial isolation.
In this period, crude oil prices were supported by strict produc-
tion discipline on part of OPEC+ members and the market was 
able to accommodate the return of Libya’s production by the 
end of September, which quickly ramped to the plateau of 1.2 
million boe/d as a result of an internal peace agreements which 
resolved the force majeure which had blocked export terminals. 
A barometer of the weakness of the fundamentals in the energy 
sector in the third and fourth quarter was the trend in the refining 
margins which dropped to historic lows due to weak demand for 
fuels and the crisis in the airline sector, which prevented refiners 
from passing the cost of the crude oil feedstock to the final pric-
es of products. To make things worse, OPEC+ production cuts 
impacted the availability of medium-heavy crudes, narrowing 
the price differentials with light-medium qualities like the Brent 
crude and squeezing the refiners’ conversion advantage.
However, since mid-November a few market and macroeconomic 
developments triggered a rally in oil prices, which reached 50 $/
bbl at the end of the year rebounding from the still depressed 
level of October and then rose to an average of 60 $/barrel in the 
first quarter of 2021. First, several effective vaccines against the 
virus were approved. Second, the OPEC+ members resolved at 
a meeting in early December to slowdown the pace of easing 
the production curtailments scheduled to begin at the onset of 
2021. Then in a subsequent meeting in early January 2021, Sau-
di Arabia surprised markets by announcing a unilateral cut to its 
production quota of 1 million barrels/d in February and March in 
relation to the uncertainties to the recovery in demand caused 
by the ongoing rise in new virus case. 
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Meanwhile, the pace of the economic recovery accelerated in 
Asia, where China and India drove a surge oil consumption. The 
inventory overhang began to ease due to market being better 
balanced. Finally, exceptional cold weather conditions hit the Far 
East which caused a mini energy crisis due to the sudden spike 
in the demand for heating products which led to a substantial 
increase in the JKM benchmark spot prices of LNG spot which 
climbed to all-time highs, up to 30-40 $/mmBTU (an increase 
more than 1000% compared to the values recorded in April 2020 
during the peak of the crisis).
The Brent price closes the year at 50 $/barrel and the recovery 
accelerates at the beginning of 2021 with the psychological 
threshold of 60 $/barrel and an average of almost 58 $/barrel in 
the first two months of the year.
Despite these positive developments, we believe the outlook for 
2021 to remain subdued due to an ongoing slowdown in econom-
ic activity and in oil consumption in Europe and in the USA, with 
possible downside risks related to the evolution of the pandemic 
crisis and the discovery of new virus strains. Therefore, the trading 
environment for 2021 remains uncertainty and volatile.
In 2020 due to macroeconomic and market developments 
described above, the average price of the Brent benchmark 
crude oil decreased by 35% compared to the previous year, 
with an annual average of 42 $/barrel, the price of natural 
gas at the Italian spot market “PSV” declined on average by 
35%, and the Standard Eni Refining Margin - SERM record-
ed the worst performance (down by 60%). Considering the 
market trends, management revised the Company’s outlook 
for hydrocarbons prices assuming a more conservative oil 
scenario with a LT Brent price at 60 $/barrel in 2023 real 
terms (compared to the previous projection of 70 $/barrel) 
to reflect the possible structural effects of the pandemic on 
oil demand and the risk that the energy transition will ac-
celerate due to the fiscal policies adopted by governments 
to rebuild the economy on more sustainable basis. These 
developments had negative, material effects on Eni’s results 
of operations and cash flow.
In 2020, Eni’s Group reported a net loss of €8.6 billion due to the 
reduction in revenues driven by lower realized prices and margins 
for hydrocarbons with an estimated impact of €6.8 billion and 
lower production volumes and other business impacts caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic for €1 billion, as well as the recognition 
of impairment losses of €3.2 billion taken at Oil & Gas assets and 
refineries due to a management’s revised outlook on long-term oil 
and gas prices and lowered assumptions for the refining margins. 
A loss of approximately €1.3 billion was incurred in relation to the 
evaluation of inventories of oil and products, which were aligned 
to their net realizable values at period end. 
All these trends caused the Group to incur an operating loss of 
€3.3 billion. Cost efficiencies and other management initiatives 
to counter the effects of the pandemic drove an improvement 
of €1.1 billion.
Furthermore, the Group net loss for the year was also due to a €1.7 

billion loss taken at equity-accounted investments, €1.3 billion for 
the write-down of deferred tax assets due to the projections of 
lowered future taxable profits and the negative effects on the un-
derlying tax rate of the recognition of non-deductible losses and 
charges, such as the lower intercompany marketing margins of 
non-equity gas entitlements, the inability to recognize deferred tax 
assets on losses for the year in jurisdictions with the projection 
of lower future taxable income and other non-deductible items.
Adjusted cash flow declined to €6.7 billion with a reduction of 
43% compared to 2019, due to lower prices of hydrocarbons 
and other scenario effects for €6 billion and the negative impact 
on operations associated with the COVID-19 for €1.3 billion due 
to lower production as a result of the curtailments of expendi-
tures, lower demand for fuel and chemicals, longer maintenance 
standstills in response to the COVID-19 emergency, lower LNG 
offtakes and lower gas demand and higher provisions for im-
pairment losses at trade receivables.
These negatives were partially offset by cost savings and other 
initiatives in response to the pandemic crisis for an amount of 
€2.3 billion.
In order to respond to a shortfall of such magnitude, manage-
ment has taken several decisive actions to preserve the Com-
pany’s liquidity, the ability to cover maturing financial obligations 
and to mitigate the impact of the crisis on the Group’s net finan-
cial position, as follows:
	Rescheduled and optimized the capital expenditures for 2020-

2021 years; in 2020 Eni reduced capex by approximately €2.6 
billion, around 35% lower than the initial capital budget at 
constant exchange rates; incurring expenditures of €5 billion. 
Those capex reductions mainly related to upstream activities, 
targeting production optimization activities and the rephasing 
of certain development projects. The delayed or re-phased ac-
tivities can be recovered once the scenario normalizes, deter-
mining a recovery of related production.

	Implemented widespread cost reduction initiatives across 
all businesses with achieved savings of about €1.9 billion in 
2020, of which about 30% are of structural nature; reductions 
of similar amount are expected in 2021.

	In May 2020, a €2 billion bond was issued. Then, in October  
2020 two hybrid bonds were issued for a total amount of 
€3 billion; those latter bonds are classified among equity for 
balance sheet purposes.

	A share repurchase program approved before the start of the 
crisis was put on hold.

	Established a new dividend policy with the introduction of a 
variable component of the dividend in line with the volatility 
of the scenario. The new policy establishes a floor dividend 
currently set at 0.36 €/share under the assumption of a Brent 
scenario of at least 43 $/barrel and a growing variable com-
ponent based on a recovery in the crude oil scenario up to  
65 $/barrel. The floor amount will be revalued over time de-
pending on the Company delivering on its industrial targets.
For 2020, the dividend proposal is equal to the floor dividend.
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The Company, leveraging on these measures, successfully 
overcame the worst phase of the downturn, limiting the in-
crease in the net borrowings before IFRS 16 which closed the 
year at €11.6 billion (unchanged over 2019), while retaining the 
leverage within the management comfort zone at 0.31. The 
Company can count to fulfill the financial obligations coming 
due in the short-term on a liquidity reserve of €20.4 billion as of 
December 31, 2020, consisting of:
	cash and cash equivalents of €9.4 billion;
	€5.3 billion of undrawn committed borrowing facilities;
	€5.5 billion of readily disposable securities (mainly govern-

ment bonds and corporate investment grade bonds) and 
€0.2 billion of short-term financing receivables.

This reserve is considered adequate to cover the main financial 
obligations maturing in the next twelve months relating to:
	short-term debt of €2.9 billion;
	maturing bonds of €1.1 billion and other maturing long-term 

debt of €1.1 billion;
	committed investments of €4.3 billion;
	instalments of leasing contracts coming due of €1.1 billion;
	the payment of a floor dividend for approximately €1.5 billion 

(including the final 2020 dividend and the interim floor divi-
dend for 2021 due to paid in September).

The evolution of Group’s financial situation in 2021 will depend, 
in addition to management initiatives, on trends in oil prices, 
which will be closely correlated to the evolution of the pandem-
ic crisis. Considering the current Oil & Gas assets portfolio, 
management has estimated a change of cash flow of approx-
imately €150 million for each one-dollar change in the price of 

the Brent crude oil benchmark and proportional changes in gas 
prices, applicable for variation of 5-10 $/barrel, compared to 
the considered scenario for 2021 at 50 $/barrel, before further 
corrective actions by management and has excluded the ef-
fects on the dividends from investments. The short-term re-
covery of the crude oil and gas prices will greatly depend on 
how the current COVID-19 crisis unfolds and on how long it 
lasts.
Under adverse assumptions, the spread of the disease could 
dampen or further delay an economic recovery, which could 
materially hit demand for energy products and prices of ener-
gy commodities. This scenario could be further complicated in 
case of a faltering OPEC+ policy at supporting prices by contin-
uing to roll over the ongoing production quotas. These trends 
could have a material and adverse effect on our results of op-
erations, cash flow, liquidity, and business prospects, including 
trends in Eni shares and shareholders’ returns.

In addition to the current liquidity reserve, the Company can lev-
erage on a solid business model and actions finalized or started 
in this year that have increased the resilience to the scenario.
The main point of these actions was the gradual reduction of 
the average breakeven of the projects in execution at 23 $/barrel 
thanks to the successful exploration at competitive discovery 
costs, the deployment of an efficient model to develop hydrocar-
bon reserves based on a phased approach, reduction of time-to-
market and design-to-cost.

The following tables report the breakdown of the operating profit 
(loss) by business and the key scenario indicators for 2020:

(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Exploration & Production (610) 7,417 10,214 (8,027)

Global Gas & LNG Portfolio (332) 431 387 (763)

Refining & Marketing and Chemicals (2,463) (682) (501) (1,781)

EGL, Power & Renewables 660 74 340 586

Corporate and other activities (563) (688) (668) 125

Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination 33 (120) 211 153

Operating profit (loss) (3,275) 6,432 9,983 (9,707)

2020 2019 2018 % Ch.

Average price of Brent dated crude oil in U.S. dollars(a) 41.67 64.30 71.04 (35.2)

Average EUR/USD exchange rate(b) 1.142 1.119 1.181 2.0

Average price of Brent dated crude oil in euro 36.49 57.44 60.15 (36.5)

Standard Eni Refining Margin (SERM)(c) 1.7 4.3 3.7 (60.5)

PSV(d) 112 171 260 (34.5)

TTF(d) 100 142 243 (29.6)
(a) Price per barrel. Source: Platt’s Oilgram.
(b) Source: ECB.
(c) In $/BBL FOB Mediterranean Brent dated crude oil. Source: Eni calculations. Approximates the margin of Eni’s refining system in consideration of material balances and refineries’ product yields.
(d) €/kcm.
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ADJUSTED RESULTS AND BREAKDOWN OF SPECIAL ITEMS
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss) (3,275) 6,432 9,983 (9,707) ..
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 1,318 (223) 96
Exclusion of special items 3,855 2,388 1,161   
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 1,898 8,597 11,240 (6,699) (77.9)
Breakdown by segment:      
Exploration & Production 1,547 8,640 10,850 (7,093) (82.1)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 326 193 278 133 68.9
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 6 21 360 (15) (71.4)
EGL, Power & Renewables 465 370 262 95 25.7
Corporate and other activities (507) (602) (583) 95 15.8
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination and other consolidation adjustments 61 (25) 73 86  
      
Net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders (8,635) 148 4,126 (8,783) ..
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 937 (157) 69
Exclusion of special items 6,940 2,885 388   
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders (758) 2,876 4,583 (3,634) ..

Management determines adjusted results excluding the special 
charges previously disclosed and mainly related to non-current 
write-downs, tax credits and loss on stocks, in order to improve 
understanding of the key businesses.
In 2020, the adjusted operating profit of €1,898 million was around 
€6.7 billion lower than the previous year (down by 78%). Scenario 
effects were a loss of -€6.8 billion and the operational and volumes 
losses relating to the impacts associated with COVID-19 pandemic 
amounted to €1 billion, while the underlying performance was posi-
tive for €1.1 billion, thanks to the positive result reported in the GGP 
segment, leveraging on the optimizations of gas and LNG asset 
portfolio, which allow to exploit value from a volatile scenario , bi-
orefineries and fuels marketing contribution and the solid and grow-
ing performance of the retail business, notwithstanding COVID-19 
pandemic impacts on demand and counterparty risk. 
For further information on the adjusted operating profit by busi-
ness, see the paragraph “Results by business segments”. 
In 2020, the Group reported an adjusted net loss of €758 million 
due to the weaker operating performance, lower results reported 
by JV and other investments due to the deteriorated macroeco-
nomic environment and tax rate.

Breakdown of special items
Adjusted net loss includes special items consist of net charges 
of €6,940 million, relating to the following:
(i)	 net impairment losses recorded at Oil & Gas properties in 

production or under development (€1,888 million, almost 
related to the first half), driven by a downward revision to 
management’s expectations for crude oil prices in the long-
term, which were reduced to 60 $/barrel and the associated 
curtailments of expenditures in the years 2020-2021 with 
the re-phasing of a number of projects, in order to preserve 
cash generation, as well as negative revisions of reserves. 
The main impairment losses were recorded at CGUs in Italy, 
Algeria, Congo, the USA and Turkmenistan;

(ii)	 impairment losses at refineries driven by a lowered outlook 
for refining margins and expectations for a continuing nar-
rowing in spreads between medium-sour crudes vs. light-
sweet crude qualities, as well as the write-down of capital 

expenditure relating to certain Cash Generating Units in the 
R&M business. These units were impaired in previous re-
porting periods and continued to lack any profitability pros-
pects (for an overall impact of €1,225 million, almost related 
to the first half); 

(iii)	 the impairment of Chemical assets due to a deteriorated 
margin scenario (€46 million);

(iv)	 the accounting effect of certain fair-valued commodity de-
rivatives lacking the formal criteria to be classified as hedg-
es, as well as the fair value of forward contracts to sell vol-
umes of gas which were not accounted based on the own 
use exemption (charges of €440 million); 

(v)	 risk provisions mainly in the E&P business (€137 million);
(vi)	 provisions for redundancy incentives (€123 million);
(vii)	the reclassification to adjusted operating profit of the neg-

ative balance of €160 million related to derivative financial 
instruments used to manage margin exposure to foreign 
currency exchange rate movements and exchange transla-
tion differences of commercial payables and receivables; 

(viii)	an allowance for doubtful accounts relating to receivables 
(€77 million) in the E&P business; 

(ix)	 charges relating to the JV Vår Energi, mainly driven by im-
pairment losses recorded at Oil & Gas assets due to a re-
vised oil price outlook and downward reserve revisions, 
netted by the accrued currency translation differences at fi-
nance debt denominated in a currency other than the report-
ing currency for which the reimbursement cash outflows 
are expected to be matched by highly probable cash inflows 
from the sale of production volumes, in the same currency 
as the finance debt as part of a natural hedge relationship 
(for overall charges of €1,111 million);

(x)	 a loss of €124 million relating to the alignment of raw mate-
rial and products inventories to their net realizable values at 
period end at ADNOC Refining; 

(xi)	 Eni’s share of non current charges/impairments relating to 
Saipem (charges of €271 million) relating to Saipem; 

(xii)	tax effects relating to the aforementioned special items, as 
well as the write-down of deferred taxes due to a deteriorat-
ed profitability outlook (an overall effect of €1,278 million).
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BREAKDOWN OF SPECIAL ITEMS
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018

Special items of operating profit (loss) 3,855 2,388 1,161
- environmental charges (25) 338 325
- impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 3,183 2,188 866
- net gains on disposal of assets (9) (151) (452)
- risk provisions 149 3 380
- provision for redundancy incentives 123 45 155
- commodity derivatives 440 (439) (133)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives (160) 108 107
- reinstatement of Eni Norge amortization charges  (375)
- other 154 296 288
Net finance (income) expense 152 (42) (85)
of which:  
- exchange rate differences and derivatives reclassified to operating profit (loss) 160 (108) (107)
Net (income) expense from investments 1,655 188 (798)
of which:  
-  gains on disposal of assets  (46) (909)
- impairments / revaluation of equity investments 1,207 148 67
Income taxes 1,278 351 110
Total special items of net profit (loss) 6,940 2,885 388

The breakdown by segment of the adjusted net profit (loss) is provided in the table below:

(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Exploration & Production 124 3,436 4,955 (3,312) (96.4)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 211 100 118 111 ..
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals (246) (42) 224 (204) ..
Eni gas e luce, Power & Renewables 329 275 189 54 19.6
Corporate and other activities (1,205) (866) (948) (339) (39.1)
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination and other consolidation adjustments(a) 36 (20) 56 56  
Adjusted net profit (loss) (751) 2,883 4,594 (3,634) ..
attributable to:  
    - Eni's shareholders (758) 2,876 4,583 (3,634) ..
    - Non-controlling interest 7 7 11
(a) This item concerned mainly intragroup sales of commodities, services and capital goods recorded in the assets of the purchasing business segment as of end of the period.

PROFIT AND LOSS ANALYSIS 

SALES FROM OPERATIONS 
2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Exploration & Production 13,590 23,572 25,744 (9,982) (42.3)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 7,051 11,779 14,807 (4,728) (40.1)
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 25,340 42,360 46,483 (17,020) (40.2)
- Refining & Marketing 22,965 39,836 43,476 (16,871) (42.4)
- Chemicals 3,387 4,123 5,123 (736) (17.9)
- Consolidation adjustments (1,012) (1,599) (2,116)
EGL, Power & Renewables 7,536 8,448 8,218 (912) (10.8)
- EGL 6,006 6,420 5,910 (414) (6.4)
- Power 1,894 2,476 2,648 (582) (23.5)
- Renewables 14 4 1 10 ..
- Consolidation adjustments (378) (452) (341)
Corporate and other activities 1,559 1,676 1,588 (117) (7.0)
Consolidation adjustments (11,089) (17,954) (21,018) 6,865
Sales from operations 43,987 69,881 75,822 (25,894) (37.1)
Other income and revenues 960 1,160 1,116 (200) (17.2)
Total revenues 44,947 71,041 76,938 (26,094) (36.7)
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OPERATING EXPENSES
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Purchases, services and other 33,551 50,874 55,622 (17,323) (34.1)
Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of trade and other receivables, net 226 432 415 (206) (47.7)
Payroll and related costs 2,863 2,996 3,093 (133) (4.4)

   of which: provision for redundancy incentives and other 123 45 155
 36,640 54,302 59,130 (17,662) (32.5)

Total revenues amounted to €44,947 million, reporting a de-
crease of 36.7% from 2019 reflecting the COVID-19 effect, 
in particular: the decline in price of oil (the Brent crude oil 
benchmark down by 35%) and of gas in all geographies (in 
particular, the Italian spot market “PSV” down by 35%), lower 
sales of energy, fuels and chemical products, as well as low-
er production availability due to full enactment of lockdown 
measure in response to the pandemic emergency.

Sales from operations in the full year of 2020 (€43,987 mil-
lion) decreased by €25,894 million or down by 37.1% from 
2019, with the following breakdown:
	revenues generated by the Exploration & Production seg-

ment (€13,590 million) decreased by 42.3% due to the dete-
riorated price scenario, reflected on realization hydrocarbon 
prices (down by 34%);

	revenues generated by the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 
segment (€7,051 million) decreased by €4,728 million 
or down by 40.1% due to lower natural gas prices and 
reduced volumes. The decrease reflected the economic 
downturn due to COVID-19 pandemic which affected the 
European gas demand, in particular in the second quarter, 
during the pandemic peak; 

	revenues generated by the Refining & Marketing and 
Chemicals segment (€25,340 million) decreased by 
€17,020 million (down by 40.2%) due to the sharply de-
pressed scenario following the crisis of fuel demand and 
the automotive sector;

	revenues generated by the EGL, Power & Renewables 
(€7,536 million) decreased by €912 million or down by 
10.8%, due to the collapse of commodities prices impact-
ed by lower consumptions for the economic slowdown.

Operating expenses for 2020 (€36,640 million) decreased by 
€17,662 million from 2019, down by 32.5%. Purchases, servic-
es and other (€33,551 million) were down by 34.1% vs. 2019, 
reflecting lower costs for hydrocarbon supplies (gas under 
long-term supply contracts and refinery and chemical feed-
stocks). This reduction is a consequence of the decisive ac-
tions implemented by management to preserve profitability 

and strengthen resilience to the pandemic scenario, achiev-
ing an opex decrease of €1.9 billion vs. pre-COVID-19 level, of 
which 30% structural. Payroll and related costs (€2,863 million) 
decreased by €133 million from 2019 (down by 4.4%), mainly 
due to the decreased average employment rate outside Italy 
and the appreciation of the euro against the USD, partly offset 
by higher provision for redundancy incentives.

DEPRECIATION, DEPLETION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENTS
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Exploration & Production 6,273 7,060 6,152 (787)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 125 124 226 1
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 575 620 399 (45)
- Refining & Marketing 488 530 311 (42)
- Chemicals 87 90 88 (3)
EGL, Power & Renewables 217 190 182 27
- EGL 166 133 126 33
- Power 45 55 56 (10)
- Renewables 6 2 4
Corporate and other activities 146 144 59 2
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (32) (32) (30)
Total depreciation, depletion and amortization 7,304 8,106 6,988 (802)
Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible and intangible and right of use assets, net 3,183 2,188 866 995
Depreciation, depletion, amortization, impairments and reversals, net 10,487 10,294 7,854 193
Write-off of tangible and intangible assets 329 300 100 29

10,816 10,594 7,954 222
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(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Exploration & Production 1,888 1,217 726 671
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 2 (5) (73) 7
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 1,271 922 193 349
EGL, Power & Renewables 1 42 2 (41)
Corporate and other activities 21 12 18 9
Impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible 
and intangible and right of use assets, net 3,183 2,188 866 995

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (€7,304 million) de-
creased by 9.9% from 2019, in particular in the Exploration & Pro-
duction segment mainly due to the reduction of capex and pro-
ductions, as well as the lower book value of Oil & Gas assets as 
consequence of impairments recorded in 2020 (€1,888 million). 

Net impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible 
and intangible and right of use assets amounted to €3,183 
million and the disclosure is provided under the paragraph 
“special items”. The breakdown by segment is provided be-
low:

Write-off charges amounted to €329 million and mainly relat-
ed to previously capitalized costs of exploratory wells which 
were expensed through profit because it was determined that 

they did not encounter commercial quantities of hydrocar-
bons mainly in Libya, the United States, Angola, Egypt, Oman, 
Mexico and Libano.

FINANCE INCOME (EXPENSE) 
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Finance income (expense) related to net borrowings (913) (962) (627) 49
- Interest expense on corporate bonds (517) (618) (565) 101
- Net income from financial activities held for trading 31 127 32 (96)
- Interest expense for banks and other financing istitutions (102) (122) (120) 20
- Interest expense for lease liabilities (347) (378) 31
- Interest from banks 10 21 18 (11)
- Interest and other income from receivables and securities 
for non-financing operating activities 12 8 8 4

Income (expense) on derivative financial instruments 351 (14) (307) 365
- Derivatives on exchange rate 391 9 (329) 382
- Derivatives on interest rate (40) (23) 22 (17)
Exchange differences, net (460) 250 341 (710)
Other finance income (expense) (96) (246) (430) 150
- Interest and other income from receivables and securities for financing operating activities 97 112 132 (15)
- Finance expense due to the passage of time (accretion discount) (190) (255) (249) 65
- Other finance income (expense) (3) (103) (313) 100
 (1,118) (972) (1,023) (146)
Finance expense capitalized 73 93 52 (20)
 (1,045) (879) (971) (166)

Net finance expenses were €1,045 million, an increase of 
€166 million from 2019. The main drivers of were: (i) recog-
nition of expenses on exchange rate (€460 million) offset by 
the positive change of fair-valued currency derivatives (up by 
€382 million) lacking the formal criteria to be designated as 
hedges under IFRS 9; (ii) decrease of other finance expense 

reflecting the lower cost of debt, as well as the circumstance 
that in 2019 was reported the interest expense accrued on 
risk provisions, in particular in the E&P segment and (iii) the 
reduction of finance expense (up by €65 million) relating to 
the accretion discount of liabilities recognized at present val-
ue following lower discount rates.
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Net income from investments amounted to €1,658 million re-
lated to: 
	a loss of €1,733 million due to the share of losses at equity-ac-

counted entities, mainly the upstream joint venture Vår Energi, 
ADNOC Refining and Saipem, which were negatively affected 
by the deteriorated scenario as well as impairment losses of 
tangible assets and inventories valuation allowance, offset by 
accrued currency translation differences at finance debt de-
nominated in a currency other than the reporting currency for 
which the reimbursement cash outflows are expected to be 

matched by highly probable cash inflows from the sale of pro-
duction volumes, in the same currency as the finance debt as 
part of a natural hedge relationship;

	dividends of €150 million paid by minor investments in certain 
entities which were designated at fair value through OCI under 
IFRS 9 except for dividends which are recorded through profit. 
These entities mainly comprised Nigeria LNG (€113 million) 
and Saudi European Petrochemical Co. (€28 million). 

The table below sets forth a breakdown of net income/loss 
from investments:

(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Share of gains (losses) from equity-accounted investments (1,733) (88) (68) (1,645)
Dividends 150 247 231 (97)
Net gains (losses) on disposals  19 22 (19)
Other income (expense), net (75) 15 910 (90)
Income (expense) from investments (1,658) 193 1,095 (1,851)

INCOME TAXES
In 2020, income taxes amounted to €2,650 million (€5,591 
million in 2019) with a loss before income taxes of €5,978 
million.
In 2020, the Group’s tax rate recorded a disproportionate 
value, with accrued income taxes being more than 100% of 
pre-tax profit due to a depressed pricing scenario which, on 
the one hand, determined higher relative weight of certain 
transactions and therefore higher distortive effects of certain 
tax items than in the past, and on the other hand limited the 
Company’s ability to recognize deferred tax assets for current 
losses. The Group tax rate was significantly and negatively 
affected by the following trends:
	the incurrence of non-deductible expenses and losses, be-

cause their tax recognition depends on the achievement of 
certain project milestones (such as a project FID) as in the 
case of explorations expenses or due to being related to in-

tercompany losses as in the case of the one incurred in con-
nection with the resale of the non-equity Libyan gas entitle-
ments; those impacts under normal scenarios are strongly 
mitigated; 

	the inability to recognize tax-losses carryforwards in certain 
jurisdictions due to lack of sufficient future taxable profits 
against which deferred tax assets are offset as required by 
IAS 12; 

	the recognition of current income taxes on intercompany div-
idend distribution which created a mismatch due to absence 
of pre-tax profit at Group level (intercompany dividends are 
eliminated in the consolidation process).

Net of these transactions, the Group’s normalized tax rate 
would come at 70% reflecting the high impact in the Eni’s 
portfolio of PSA oil contracts that have tax rates less sensi-
tive to oil prices.

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

2020 (€ million)
Exploration 

& Production

Global 
Gas & LNG 

Portfolio

Refining 
& Marketing 

and Chemicals
EGL, Power 

& Renewables
Corporate and 
other activities Group

Share of gains (losses) from equity-accounted investments (980) (15) (363) 6 (381) (1,733)
Dividends 118 32 150
Other income (expense), net (48) (18) (9) (75)

(862) (63) (349) (3) (381) (1,658)

(€ million)
reported 

(ex-special items)

non-deductible 
costs, losses and 
exploration items

unrecognized 
deferred tax assets on 

losses for the period

tax accrued on 
intercompany 

dividends
normalized 

tax rate
Pre-tax profit 1,002 741 1,743
Accrued income taxes 1,753 (330) (195) 1,228
Tax rate n.s. 70%
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Results by business segments1

EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION 
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss) (610) 7,417 10,214 (8,027) ..
Exclusion of special items: 2,157 1,223 636
- environmental charges 19 32 110
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 1,888 1,217 726
- net gains on disposal of assets 1 (145) (442)
- provision for redundancy incentives 34 23 26
- risk provisions 114 (18) 360
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 13 14 (6)
- other 88 100 (138)   
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 1,547 8,640 10,850 (7,093) (82.1)
Net finance (expense) income(a) (316) (362) (366) 46
Net income (expense) from investments(a) 262 312 285 (50)

   of which: Vår Energi 193 122
Income taxes(a) (1,369) (5,154) (5,814) 3,785
Adjusted net profit (loss) 124 3,436 4,955 (3,312) (96.4)
Results also include:  
Exploration expenses: 510 489 380 21 4.3
‐ prospecting, geological and geophysical expenses 196 275 287 (79) (28.7)
‐ write‐off of unsuccessful wells(b) 314 214 93 100 46.7
Average realizations    
Liquids(c) ($/bbl) 37.06 59.26 65.47 (22.20) (37.5)
Natural gas ($/kcf) 3.76 4.94 5.20 (1.18) (23.9)
Hydrocarbons ($/boe) 28.92 43.54 47.48 (14.62) (33.6)
(a) Excluding special items.
(b) Also includes write‐off of unproved exploration rights, if any, related to projects with negative outcome.
(c) Includes condensates.

In 2020, Exploration & Production reported an adjusted 
operating profit of €1,547 million, down by €7.1 billion y-o-y, 
or 82%. The decrease was driven by a sharply deteriorated oil 
and natural gas pricing scenario in all the geographies, par-
ticularly in the second quarter which was the hardest hit by 
the downturn, as well as COVID-19 pandemic impacts (low-
er production volumes due to lower capital expenditures and 
operational impacts), OPEC+ production cuts and lower gas 
demand. Furthermore, the result of the period was affected 
by a loss incurred in reselling Libyan non-equity gas volumes, 
which were marketed in Europe. This resale price is excluded 
from the calculation of Eni’s average realized gas prices be-

cause Eni’s realized prices are calculated only with reference 
to equity production. Higher write-off expenses relating to un-
successful exploration wells also negatively affected the full 
year performance and were partly offset by the optimization 
of operating expenses.
Adjusted operating profit excluded special charges of €2,157 
million.
Adjusted net profit of €124 million decreased by 96.4% from 
2019 due to lower operating profit and lower results accrued by 
most of the equity-accounted entities driven by a significantly 
deteriorated trading environment, except for Vår Energi which 
reported improving results in the fourth quarter.

(1) Other alternative performance indicators disclosed are accompanied by explanatory notes and tables in line with guidance provided by ESMA guidelines on alternative 
performance measures (ESMA/2015/1415), published on October 5, 2015. For further information, see the section “Alternative performance measures” of this Annual 
Report at subsequent pages.
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GLOBAL GAS & LNG PORTFOLIO 
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss)  (332) 431 387 (763) ..
Exclusion of special items: 658 (238) (109)
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 2 (5) (73)
- provision for redundancy incentives 2 1 4
- commodity derivatives 858 (576) (63)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives (183) 109 111
- other (21) 233 (88)   
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 326 193 278 133 68.9
Net finance (expense) income(a)  3 (3) (3)
Net income (expense) from investments(a) (15) (21) (1) 6
Income taxes(a) (100) (75) (156) (25)
Adjusted net profit (loss) 211 100 118 111 ..
(a) Excluding special items.

REFINING & MARKETING AND CHEMICALS 
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss)  (2,463) (682) (501) (1,781) ..
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 1,290 (318) 234
Exclusion of special items: 1,179 1,021 627
- environmental charges 85 244 193
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 1,271 922 193
- net gains on disposal of assets (8) (5) (9)
- risk provisions 5 (2) 21
- provision for redundancy incentives 27 8 8
- commodity derivatives (185) (118) 120
- exchange rate differences and derivatives 10 (5) 5
- other (26) (23) 96
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 6 21 360 (15) (71.4)
    - Refining & Marketing 235 289 370 (54) (18.7)
    - Chemicals (229) (268) (10) 39 14.6
Net finance (expense) income(a) (7) (36) 11 29
Net income (expense) from investments(a) (161) 37 (2) (198)

   of which: ADNOC Refining (167) 23
Income taxes(a) (84) (64) (145) (20)
Adjusted net profit (loss) (246) (42) 224 (204) ..
(a) Excluding special items.

In 2020, the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio segment reported an ad-
justed operating profit of €326 million, up by 68.9% compared to 
2019. This improvement was due to the optimization of the gas 
and LNG assets portfolio, leveraging high price volatility and con-
tracts’ flexibility, as well as to a favourable outcome of an LNG 
contract renegotiation closed in the third quarter. These positive 
trends more than offset the lower performance at the gas busi-

ness negatively affected by a contraction in gas demand at the 
main European markets due to the COVID-19 pandemic, mainly in 
the second quarter of 2020, being the height of the crisis.
Adjusted operating profit excluded special charges of €658 
million.
Adjusted net profit was €211 million, more than doubled 
from 2019 mainly due to increased operating profit.

The Refining & Marketing business reported an adjusted 
operating loss of €235 million, down by 18.7% compared to 
2019. The oil-based refining business reported a lower per-
formance due to a sharply depressed scenario, negatively af-
fected by the pandemic-induced crisis in fuels demand and 
by a worsening conversion premium resulting in reduced re-
finery runs, against the backdrop of overcapacity, competitive 

pressure and high levels of inventories. These impacts were 
partially offset by optimization actions of the industrial setup 
and by a positive performance of the biorefineries thanks to 
higher processed volumes and margins. The marketing busi-
ness reported steady results, despite a strong reduction of 
sales due to the pandemic effects, thanks to the optimization 
and efficiency initiatives. 
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The chemicals segment reported better results from the previ-
ous year, notwithstanding the economic recession caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic reduced the consumption of plastics 
in core industries like the automotive sector. Strengthening 
economic recovery in Asia in the final part of the year, softening 
competitive pressures and a margin recovery especially at the 
polyethylene business supported the segment’s recovery in the 
fourth quarter, which also benefitted of higher product avail-
ability. In 2020, the Chemical business reported an adjusted 
operating loss of €229 million, an improvement of €39 million 
compared with a loss of €268 million in 2019, notwithstanding 
the strong reduction of sale volumes recorded in the second 
and the third quarter, due to an economic downturn in Europe 
triggered by the restrictive measures implemented during the 
COVID-19 pandemic’s peak, as well as ongoing uncertainties 

about the strength of the recovery which led operators to 
postpone purchase decisions. Furthermore, lower sales vol-
umes were negatively affected by reduced product availability 
due to longer maintenance standstills at the production hubs 
in response to the COVID-19 emergency (particularly at the 
steam-cracking of Priolo and the Brindisi hub). Finally, these 
trends were more than offset in the fourth quarter by a margin 
recovery especially in the polyethylene business, supported the 
business recovery in the last part of the year.

Adjusted operating profit of the R&M and Chemicals seg-
ment of €6 million, excluded special charges of €1,179 mil-
lion and inventory holding losses of €1,290 million. On a net 
basis, the negative result of €246 million reflects a net ex-
pense from investment in ADNOC Refining of €167 million.

EGL, POWER & RENEWABLES 
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss)   660 74 340 586 ..
Exclusion of special items: (195) 296 (78)
- environmental charges 1 (1)
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 1 42 2
- risk provisions 10
- provision for redundancy incentives 20 3 118
- commodity derivatives (233) 255 (190)
- exchange rate differences and derivatives  (10) (3)
- other 6 6 (4)
Adjusted operating profit (loss)  465 370 262 95 25.7
- Eni gas e luce 325 278 201 47 16.9
- Power & Renewables 140 92 61 48 52.2
Net finance (expense) income(a) (1) (1) (1)
Net income (expense) from investments(a) 6 10 10 (4)
Income taxes(a) (141) (104) (82) (37)
Adjusted net profit (loss)  329 275 189 54 19.6
(a) Excluding special items.

In 2020 the retail gas and power business, managed by Eni gas e 
luce, reported a solid and growing performance with an adjusted 
operating profit of €325 million, up by €47 million or 16.9% from 
2019, notwithstanding reduced sales due to lower consumption 
following the economic downturn and higher provisions for im-
pairment losses at trade receivables in line with an expected de-
terioration in the counterparty risk. Performance was supported 
by commercial and efficiency initiatives, the contribution of ex-
tra-commodity business in Italy and by the development of the 

business in France and Greece. The Power & Renewables busi-
ness reported an adjusted operating profit of €140 million (up by 
€48 million vs. 2019), benefitting from higher margins.
Adjusted operating profit of €465 million excluded special charg-
es of €195 million. 

The segment reported an adjusted net profit of €329 mil-
lion an increase of 19.6% due to an improved operating 
performance. 
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CORPORATE AND OTHER ACTIVITIES
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Operating profit (loss)  (563) (688) (668) 125 18.2
Exclusion of special items: 56 86 85
- environmental charges (130) 62 23
- impairment losses (impairment reversals), net 21 12 18
- net gains on disposal of assets (2) (1) (1)
- risk provisions 20 23 (1)
- provision for redundancy incentives 40 10 (1)
- other 107 (20) 47   
Adjusted operating profit (loss) (507) (602) (583) 95 15.8
Net finance (expense) income(a) (569) (525) (697) (44)
Net income (expense) from investments(a) (95) 43 5 (138)
Income taxes(a) (34) 218 327 (252)  
Adjusted net profit (loss) (1,205) (866) (948) (339) (39.1)
(a) Excluding special items.

The results of Corporate and other activities mainly include 
costs of Eni’s headquarters net of services charged to oper-
ational companies for the provision of general purposes ser-
vices, administration, finance, information technology, human 
resources management, legal affairs, international affairs, as 

well as operational costs of decommissioning activities per-
taining to certain businesses which Eni exited, divested or shut 
down in past years, net of the margins of captive subsidiar-
ies providing specialized services to the business (insurance, 
financial, recruitment).
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SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET 

The summarized Group balance sheet aggregates the amount 
of assets and liabilities derived from the statutory balance sheet 
in accordance with functional criteria which considers the enter-
prise conventionally divided into the three fundamental areas fo-
cusing on resource investments, operations and financing. Man-
agement believes that this summarized group balance sheet is 

useful information in assisting investors to assess Eni’s capital 
structure and to analyse its sources of funds and investments 
in fixed assets and working capital. Management uses the sum-
marized group balance sheet to calculate key ratios such as the 
return on invested capital (adjusted ROACE) and the financial 
soundness/equilibrium (gearing and leverage).

SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET(a)

(€ million) December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 Change

Fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment 53,943 62,192 (8,249)
Right of use 4,643 5,349 (706)
Intangible assets 2,936 3,059 (123)
Inventories - Compulsory stock 995 1,371 (376)
Equity-accounted investments and other investments 7,706 9,964 (2,258)
Receivables and securities held for operating purposes 1,037 1,234 (197)
Net payables related to capital expenditure (1,361) (2,235) 874
 69,899 80,934 (11,035)
Net working capital  
Inventories 3,893 4,734 (841)
Trade receivables 7,087 8,519 (1,432)
Trade payables (8,679) (10,480) 1,801
Net tax assets (liabilities) (2,198) (1,594) (604)
Provisions (13,438) (14,106) 668
Other current assets and liabilities (1,328) (1,864) 536
 (14,663) (14,791) 128
Provisions for employee benefits (1,201) (1,136) (65)
Assets held for sale including related liabilities 44 18 26
CAPITAL EMPLOYED, NET 54,079 65,025 (10,946)
Eni shareholders' equity 37,415 47,839 (10,424)
Non-controlling interest 78 61 17
Shareholders’ equity 37,493 47,900 (10,407)
Net borrowings before lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 11,568 11,477 91
Lease liabilities 5,018 5,648 (630)
- of which Eni working interest 3,366 3,672 (306)
- of which Joint operators' working interest 1,652 1,976 (324)
Net borrowings post lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 16,586 17,125 (539)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 54,079 65,025 (10,946)
Leverage 0.44 0.36
Gearing 0.31 0.26  
(a) For a reconciliation to the statutory statement of cash flow see the paragraph “Reconciliation of Summarized Group Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows to Statutory Schemes”.

As of December 31, 2020, fixed assets decreased by €11,035 
million mainly due to: (i) impairment losses and amortization 
and depletion charges taken at PP&E (€10,816 million), as 
well as negative currency translation differences partly offset 
by capex incurred in the period (€4,644 million); (ii) a reduc-
tion in the book value of equity accounted investments and 
other investments (-€2,258 million) driven by losses incurred 
at the main equity-accounted entities (Vår Energi and ADNOC 
Refining); (iii) the write-down of compulsory stock following a 
decline in crude oil and product prices. 

Net working capital (-€14,663 million) was broadly unchanged 
y-o-y. A lower balance between trade payables and trade re-
ceivables (+€369 million) and reduced provisions mainly due 
to utilizations with respect to the incurrence of expenses 
(+€668 million) were offset by a lower value of oil and prod-
ucts inventories due to the alignment of the book value to 
market prices at the period-end (-€841 million) and the write-
off of deferred tax assets due to a deteriorated profitability 
outlook.
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(€ million) 2020 2019

Net profit (loss) (8,628) 155
Items that are not reclassified to profit or loss in later periods 33 (47)
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (16) (42)
Change in the fair value of minor investments with effects 
to other comprehensive income 24 (3)

Share of other comprehensive income on equity accounted investments  (7)
Taxation 25 5
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in later periods (2,813) 116
Currency translation differences (3,314) 604
Change in the fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives 661 (679)
Share of other comprehensive income on equity accounted investments 32 (6)
Taxation (192) 197
Total other items of comprehensive income (loss) (2,780) 69
Total comprehensive income (loss) (11,408) 224
attributable to:  
    - Eni's shareholders (11,415) 217
    - Non-controlling interest 7 7

CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(€ million)

Shareholders' equity at January 1, 2019 51,069 
Total comprehensive income (loss) 224  
Dividends distributed to Eni's shareholders (3,018)  
Dividends distributed by consolidated subsidiaries (4)  
Buy-back program (400)  
Reimbursement to third party shareholders (1)  
Other changes 30  
Total changes (3,169)
Shareholders' equity at December 31, 2019 47,900 
attributable to:  
    - Eni's shareholders 47,839 
    - Non-controlling interest 61 
    
Shareholders' equity at January 1, 2020 47,900 
Total comprehensive income (loss) (11,408)  
Dividends distributed to Eni's shareholders (1,965)  
Dividends distributed by consolidated subsidiaries (3)  
Net payments on perpetual subordinated bonds 2,975  
Other changes (6)  
Total changes (10,407)
Shareholders' equity at December 31, 2020 37,493 
attributable to:  
    - Eni's shareholders 37,415 
    - Non-controlling interest 78 

 

Shareholders’ equity (€37,493 million) decreased by €10,407 
million compared to December 31, 2019 due to the net loss for 
the period (-€8,628 million), the payment of dividends to Eni’s 
shareholders (€1,965 million related to the 2019 final dividend 
of €0.43 per share and the 2020 interim dividend of €0.36 per 
share or one-third of floor dividend) as well as negative foreign 

currency translation differences (-€3,314 million) reflecting the 
depreciation of the dollar vs. the euro as of December 31, 2020 
vs. December 31, 2019, partly offset by an increase due to the 
issuance of two hybrid bonds for approximately €3 billion in 
October and a positive change in the cash flow hedge reserve 
(+€661 million). 
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LEVERAGE AND NET BORROWINGS
Leverage is a measure used by management to assess the 
Company’s level of indebtedness. It is calculated as a ratio 
of net borrowings which is calculated by excluding cash and 
cash equivalents and certain very liquid assets from financial 
debt to shareholders’ equity, including non-controlling inter-
est. Gearing measures how much of capital employed net is 

financed recurring to third-party funding and is calculated as 
the ratio between net borrowings and capital employed net. 
Management periodically reviews leverage in order to assess 
the soundness and efficiency of the Group balance sheet in 
terms of optimal mix between net borrowings and net equity, 
and to carry out benchmark analysis with industry standards.

(€ million) December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 Change

Total finance debt 26,686 24,518 2,168
 -  Short-term debt 4,791 5,608 (817)
 -  Long-term debt 21,895 18,910 2,985

Cash and cash equivalents (9,413) (5,994) (3,419)
Securities held for trading (5,502) (6,760) 1,258
Financing receivables held for non-operating purposes (203) (287) 84
Net borrowings before lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 11,568 11,477 91
Lease Liabilities 5,018 5,648 (630)
- of which Eni working interest 3,366 3,672 (306)
- of which Joint operators' working interest 1,652 1,976 (324)
Net borrowings post lease liabilities ex IFRS 16 16,586 17,125 (539)
Shareholders' equity including non-controlling interest 37,493 47,900 (10,407)
Leverage before lease liability ex IFRS 16 0.31 0.24 (0.07)
Leverage after lease liability ex IFRS 16 0.44 0.36

Net borrowings as of December 31, 2020 were €16,586 mil-
lion decreasing by €539 million from 2019. Total finance debt 
of €26,686 million consisted of €4,791 million of short-term 
debt (including the portion of long-term debt due within twelve 
months of €1,909 million) and €21,895 million of long-term 
debt. When excluding the lease liabilities, net borrowings were 
re-determined at €11,568 million in line with the 2019 year-end. 

Leverage2 – the ratio of the borrowings to total equity – was 
0.44 at December 31, 2020. The impact of the lease liability 
pertaining to joint operators in Eni-led upstream unincorpo-
rated joint ventures weighted on leverage for 4 points. Ex-
cluding the impact of IFRS 16 altogether, leverage would be 
0.31.

(2) Other alternative performance indicators disclosed are accompanied by explanatory notes and tables in line with guidance provided by ESMA guidelines on alternative 
performance measures (ESMA/2015/1415), published on October 5, 2015. For further information, see the section “Alternative performance measures” of this Annual 
Report at subsequent pages.

SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
Eni’s Summarized Group Cash Flow Statement derives from 
the statutory statement of cash flows. It enables investors to 
understand the connection existing between changes in cash 
and cash equivalents (deriving from the statutory cash flows 
statement) and in net borrowings (deriving from the sum-
marized cash flow statement) that occurred in the reporting 
period. The measure which links the two statements is repre-
sented by the “free cash flow” which is calculated as difference 
between the cash flow generated from operations and the net 
cash used in investing activities. Starting from free cash flow 

it is possible to determine either: (i) changes in cash and cash 
equivalents for the period by adding/deducting cash flows re-
lating to financing debts/receivables (issuance/repayment of 
debt and receivables related to financing activities), sharehold-
ers’ equity (dividends paid, net repurchase of own shares, capi-
tal issuance) and the effect of changes in consolidation and of 
exchange rate differences; and (ii) change in net borrowings for 
the period by adding/deducting cash flows relating to share-
holders’ equity and the effect of changes in consolidation and 
of exchange rate differences.
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SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT(a)

(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Net profit (loss)  (8,628) 155 4,137 (8,783)
Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:  
- depreciation, depletion and amortization and other non monetary items 12,641 10,480 7,657 2,161
- net gains on disposal of assets (9) (170) (474) 161
- dividends, interests, taxes and other changes 3,251 6,224 6,168 (2,973)
Changes in working capital related to operations (18) 366 1,632 (384)
Dividends received by investments 509 1,346 275 (837)
Taxes paid (2,049) (5,068) (5,226) 3,019
Interests (paid) received (875) (941) (522) 66
Net cash provided by operating activities  4,822 12,392 13,647 (7,570)
Capital expenditure (4,644) (8,376) (9,119) 3,732
Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses (392) (3,008) (244) 2,616
Disposals of consolidated subsidiaries, businesses, tangible and intagible assets and investments 28 504 1,242 (476)
Other cash flow related to investing activities and disinvestments (735) (254) 942 (481)
Free cash flow  (921) 1,258 6,468 (2,179)
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to financial activities 1,156 (279) (357) 1,435
Changes in short and long-term financial debt 3,115 (1,540) 320 4,655
Repayment of lease liabilities (869) (877) 8
Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interests and reserves (1,968) (3,424) (2,957) 1,456
Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond 2,975 2,975
Effect of changes in consolidation and exchange differences of cash and cash equivalent (69) 1 18 (70)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 3,419 (4,861) 3,492 8,280
Adjusted net cash before changes in working capital at replacement cost 6,726 11,700 12,529 (4,974)

Change in net borrowings
(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Free cash flow (921) 1,258 6,468 (2,179)
Repayment of lease liabilities (869) (877) 8
Net borrowings of acquired companies (67) (18) (67)
Net borrowings of divested companies 13 (499) (13)
Exchange differences on net borrowings and other changes 759 (158) (367) 917
Dividends paid and changes in non-controlling interest and reserves (1,968) (3,424) (2,957) 1,456
Net issue (repayment) of perpetual hybrid bond 2,975 2,975
CHANGE IN NET BORROWINGS BEFORE LEASE LIABILITIES (91) (3,188) 2,627 3,097
IFRS 16 first application effect (5,759) 5,759
Repayment of lease liabilities 869 877 (8)
Inception of new leases and other changes (239) (766) 527
Change in lease liabilities 630 (5,648) 6,278
CHANGE IN NET BORROWINGS AFTER LEASE LIABILITIES 539 (8,836) 2,627 9,375
(a) For a reconciliation to the statutory statement of cash flow see the paragraph “Reconciliation of Summarized Group Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows to Statutory Schemes”.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the full year 2020 
was €4,822 million, 61% lower than 2019 due to a deteriorated 
scenario and the circumstance that the 2019 amount included 
higher dividends paid by the JV Vår Energi (€1,057 million in 
2019 vs. €274 million in the current period). 
Changes in working capital in the full year of 2020 were mainly 
driven by a reduction in the book value of inventories due to 
the alignment to their net realizable values at period-end and 
despite a lower amount of trade receivables due in subsequent 
reporting periods divested to financing institutions compared 
to the fourth quarter 2019 (-€1 billion), as well as the settle-
ment of a contractual dispute with a first party in the E&P busi-
ness (approximately -€0.4 billion).

Adjusted cash flow was €6,726 million with a reduction of 
43% compared to the previous year. This non-GAAP measu-
re includes net cash provided by operating activities befo-
re changes in working capital excluding inventory holding 
gains or losses and provisions for extraordinary credit los-
ses and other charges, as well as the fair value of commo-
dity derivatives lacking the formal criteria to be designated 
as hedges and the fair value of forward gas sale contracts 
with physical delivery which were not accounted in accor-
dance with the own use exemption. The reduction from the 
full year of 2019 is due to scenario effects of approximately 
-€6.0 billion, including the impact of dividends from equity 
accounted entities, operational impacts associated with the 
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(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,822 12,392 13,647 (7.570)
Changes in working capital related to operations 18 (366) (1,632) 384
Exclusion of commodity derivatives 440 (439) (133) 879
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 1,318 (223) 96 1.541
Provisions for extraordinary credit losses and other charges 128 336 551 (208)
Adjusted net cash before changes in working capital at replacement cost 6,726 11,700 12,529 (4.974)

Cash outflows for capital expenditure and investments 
were €5,036 million, including the acquisition of the control 
of the Evolvere company and of minority interests in Fin-
project and in Novis Renewables Holdings, as well as capi-
tal contributions made to certain equity-accounted entities 
engaged in the execution of projects of Eni’s interest. Net 
of the above-mentioned non-organic items and of utilization 
of trade advances cashed by Egyptian partners in previous 
reporting periods in relation to the financing of the Zohr 
project (€0.25 billion), net capital expenditures amounted 
to €4.97 billion, 36% lower than the same period of 2019 
leveraging the curtailments implemented by the manage-
ment following a review of the industrial plan 2020-2021 in 
response to the pandemic COVID-19 crisis. In the full year of 
2020 net capex were fully funded by the adjusted cash flow. 

Capital expenditure amounted to €4,644 million (€8,376 
million in 2019), decreasing by 45% from 2019 and mainly 
related to: 

	development activities (€3,077 million) mainly in Egypt, In-
donesia, the United Arab Emirates, Italy, the United States, 
Angola, Mexico, Iraq and Kazakhstan;

	refining activity in Italy and outside Italy (€462 million) 
mainly relating to the activities to maintain plants’ integri-
ty and stay-in-business, as well as HSE initiatives; market-
ing activity (€126 million) for regulation compliance and 
stay-in-business initiatives in the retail network in Italy and 
in the rest of Europe;

	initiatives relating to gas and power marketing in the retail 
business (€175 million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

(€ million) 2020 2019 2018 Change % Ch.

Exploration & Production 3,472 6,996 7,901 (3,524) (50.4)
-  acquisition of proved and unproved properties 57 400 869 (343) (85.8)
-  exploration 283 586 463 (303) (51.7)
-  development 3,077 5,931 6,506 (2,854) (48.1)
-  other expenditure 55 79 63 (24) (30.4)
Global Gas & LNG Portfolio 11 15 26 (4) (26.7)
Refining & Marketing and Chemicals 771 933 877 (162) (17.4)
-  Refining & Marketing 588 815 726 (227) (27.9)
-  Chemicals 183 118 151 65 55.1 
EGL, Power & Renewables 293 357 238 (64) (17.9)
 - EGL 175 173 143 2 1.2 
- Power 52 42 46 10 23.8 
- Renewables 66 142 49 (76) (53.5)
Corporate and other activities 107 89 94 18 20.2
Impact of unrealized intragroup profit elimination (10) (14) (17)   
Capital expenditure 4,644 8,376 9,119 (3,732) (44.6)
Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses 392 3,008 244 (2,616) (87.0)
Total capex and investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries 
and businesses 5,036 11,384 9,363 (6,348) (55.8)

COVID-19 for -€1.3 billion, while the underlying performance 
was a positive €2.3 billion. The Group cash tax rate was 32% 
(31% in the full year of 2019).

A reconciliation of adjusted net cash before changes in wor-
king capital at replacement cost to net cash provided by opera-
ting activities for full year of 2019 and 2020 is provided below:
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Alternative performance measures (Non-GAAP measures)
 

Management evaluates underlying business performance on 
the basis of Non-GAAP financial measures under IFRS (“Alter-
native performance measures”), such as adjusted operating 
profit and adjusted net profit, which are arrived at by excluding 
inventory holding gains or losses, special items and, in deter-
mining the business segments’ adjusted results, finance charg-
es on finance debt and interest income. From 2017, the recog-
nition of the inventory holding (gains) losses has been revised 
in the Gas & Power segment considering a recently-enacted, 
less restrictive regulatory framework relating the legal obliga-
tion on part of gas wholesalers to retain gas volumes in stor-
age to ensure an adequate level of modulation to the retail seg-
ment. On this basis, management has progressively reduced 
gas quantities held in storage and has commenced to leverage 
those quantities to improve margins by seeking to capture the 
seasonality in gas prices existing between the phase of gas 
injection (which typically occurs in summer months) vs. the 
phase of gas off-take (which typically occurs during the winter 
months). Therefore, from the closure of the statutory period of 
gas injection, i.e. from the fourth quarter of 2017, the determi-
nation of the stock profit or loss in the Gas & Power segment 
has changed and currently gas off-takes from storage are val-
ued at the average cost incurred during the injection period net 
of the effects of hedging derivatives, ensuring when the pur-
chased volumes are matched by the corresponding sales (net 
of the effects of hedging derivatives) the proper measurement 
and accountability of the economic performances. The adjust-
ed operating profit of each business segment reports gains 
and losses on derivative financial instruments entered into to 
manage exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange 
rates, which affect industrial margins and translation of com-
mercial payables and receivables. Accordingly, also currency 
translation effects recorded through profit and loss are report-
ed within business segments’ adjusted operating profit. The 
taxation effect of the items excluded from adjusted operating 
or net profit is determined based on the specific rate of taxes 
applicable to each of them. Management includes them in or-
der to facilitate a comparison of base business performance 
across periods, and to allow financial analysts to evaluate Eni’s 
trading performance on the basis of their forecasting models. 
Non-GAAP financial measures should be read together with 
information determined by applying IFRS and do not stand in 
for them. Other companies may adopt different methodologies 
to determine Non-GAAP measures. Follows the description of 
the main alternative performance measures adopted by Eni. 
The measures reported below refer to the performance of the 
reporting periods disclosed in this press release.

Adjusted operating and net profit Adjusted operating and net 
profit are determined by excluding inventory holding gains or 

losses, special items and, in determining the business seg-
ments’ adjusted results, finance charges on finance debt and 
interest income. The adjusted operating profit of each busi-
ness segment reports gains and losses on derivative financial 
instruments entered into to manage exposure to movements in 
foreign currency exchange rates which impact industrial mar-
gins and translation of commercial payables and receivables. 
Accordingly, also currency translation effects recorded through 
profit and loss are reported within business segments’ adjust-
ed operating profit. The taxation effect of the items excluded 
from adjusted operating or net profit is determined based on 
the specific rate of taxes applicable to each of them. Finance 
charges or income related to net borrowings excluded from the 
adjusted net profit of business segments are comprised of in-
terest charges on finance debt and interest income earned on 
cash and cash equivalents not related to operations. Therefore, 
the adjusted net profit of business segments includes finance 
charges or income deriving from certain segment operated as-
sets, i.e., interest income on certain receivable financing and 
securities related to operations and finance charge pertaining 
to the accretion of certain provisions recorded on a discounted 
basis (as in the case of the asset retirement obligations in the 
Exploration & Production segment).

Inventory holding gain or loss This is the difference between 
the cost of sales of the volumes sold in the period based on 
the cost of supplies of the same period and the cost of sales of 
the volumes sold calculated using the weighted average cost 
method of inventory accounting as required by IFRS. 

Special items These include certain significant income or 
charges pertaining to either: (i) infrequent or unusual events 
and transactions, being identified as non-recurring items under 
such circumstances; (ii) certain events or transactions which 
are not considered to be representative of the ordinary course 
of business, as in the case of environmental provisions, re-
structuring charges, asset impairments or write ups and gains 
or losses on divestments even though they occurred in past pe-
riods or are likely to occur in future ones. Exchange rate differ-
ences and derivatives relating to industrial activities and com-
mercial payables and receivables, particularly exchange rate 
derivatives to manage commodity pricing formulas which are 
quoted in a currency other than the functional currency are re-
classified in operating profit with a corresponding adjustment 
to net finance charges, notwithstanding the handling of foreign 
currency exchange risks is made centrally by netting off nat-
urally-occurring opposite positions and then dealing with any 
residual risk exposure in the derivative market. Finally, special 
items include the accounting effects of fair-valued commodi-
ty derivatives relating to commercial exposures, in addition to 
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those which lack the criteria to be designed as hedges, also 
those which are not eligible for the own use exemption, includ-
ing the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges, as well as the 
accounting effects of commodity and exchange rates deriva-
tives whenever it is deemed that the underlying transaction is 
expected to occur in future reporting periods. As provided for 
in Decision No. 15519 of July 27, 2006 of the Italian market 
regulator (CONSOB), non-recurring material income or charges 
are to be clearly reported in the management’s discussion and 
financial tables.

Leverage Leverage is a Non-GAAP measure of the Company’s 
financial condition, calculated as the ratio between net bor-
rowings and shareholders’ equity, including non-controlling 
interest. Leverage is the reference ratio to assess the solidity 
and efficiency of the Group balance sheet in terms of inci-
dence of funding sources including third-party funding and 
equity as well as to carry out benchmark analysis with indus-
try standards. 

Gearing Gearing is calculated as the ratio between net bor-
rowings and capital employed net and measures how much 
of capital employed net is financed recurring to third-party 
funding.

Net cash provided by operating activities before changes in 
working capital at replacement cost Net cash provided from 
operating activities before changes in working capital and ex-
cluding inventory holding gain or loss.

Free cash flow Free cash flow represents the link existing be-
tween changes in cash and cash equivalents (deriving from 
the statutory cash flows statement) and in net borrowings 
(deriving from the summarized cash flow statement) that oc-
curred from the beginning of the period to the end of period. 
Free cash flow is the cash in excess of capital expenditure 
needs. Starting from free cash flow it is possible to determine 
either: (i) changes in cash and cash equivalents for the period 
by adding/deducting cash flows relating to financing debts/
receivables (issuance/repayment of debt and receivables re-
lated to financing activities), shareholders’ equity (dividends 
paid, net repurchase of own shares, capital issuance) and 
the effect of changes in consolidation and of exchange rate 
differences; (ii) changes in net borrowings for the period by 
adding/deducting cash flows relating to shareholders’ equity 
and the effect of changes in consolidation and of exchange 
rate differences.

Net borrowings Net borrowings is calculated as total finance 
debt less cash, cash equivalents and certain very liquid in-
vestments not related to operations, including among others 
non-operating financing receivables and securities not related 
to operations. Financial activities are qualified as “not related to 

operations” when these are not strictly related to the business 
operations. 

ROACE (Return On Average Capital Employed) adjusted Is the 
return on average capital invested, calculated as the ratio be-
tween net income before minority interests, plus net financial 
charges on net financial debt, less the related tax effect and net 
average capital employed.

Coverage Financial discipline ratio, calculated as the ratio be-
tween operating profit and net finance charges. 

Current ratio Measures the capability of the company to repay 
short-term debt, calculated as the ratio between current assets 
and current liabilities.

Debt coverage Rating companies use the debt coverage ratio 
to evaluate debt sustainability. It is calculated as the ratio be-
tween net cash provided by operating activities and net bor-
rowings, less cash and cash-equivalents, securities held for 
non-operating purposes and financing receivables for non-op-
erating purposes. 

Net Debt/EBITDA adjusted Net Debt/adjusted EBITDA is the 
ratio between the profit available to cover the debt before in-
terest, taxes, amortizations and impairment. This index is a 
measure of the company’s ability pay off its debt and gives an 
indication as to how long a company would need to operate at 
its current level to pay off all its debt.

Profit per boe Measures the return per oil and natural gas bar-
rel produced. It is calculated as the ratio between Results of 
operations from E&P activities (as defined by FASB Extractive 
Activities - Oil & Gas Topic 932) and production sold. 

Opex per boe Measures efficiency in the Oil & Gas development 
activities, calculated as the ratio between operating costs (as 
defined by FASB Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas Topic 932) 
and production sold.

Finding & Development cost per boe Represents Finding & De-
velopment cost per boe of new proved or possible reserves. 
It is calculated as the overall amount of exploration and de-
velopment expenditure, the consideration for the acquisition of 
possible and probable reserves as well as additions of proved 
reserves deriving from improved recovery, extensions, discov-
eries and revisions of previous estimates (as defined by FASB 
Extractive Activities - Oil and Gas Topic 932).

The following tables report the group operating profit and 
Group adjusted net profit and their breakdown by segment, as 
well as is represented the reconciliation with net profit attribut-
able to Eni’s shareholders of continuing operations.
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RECONCILIATION TABLES OF NON-GAAP RESULTS TO THE MOST COMPARABLE MEASURES OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE TO GAAPS
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Reported operating profit (loss) (610) (332) (2,463) 660 (563) 33 (3,275)
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses   1,290   28 1,318
Exclusion of special items:  
   - environmental charges 19 85 1 (130) (25)
   - impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 1,888 2 1,271 1 21 3,183
   - net gains on disposal of assets 1 (8) (2) (9)
   - risk provisions 114 5 10 20 149
   - provision for redundancy incentives 34 2 27 20 40 123
   - commodity derivatives 858 (185) (233) 440
   - exchange rate differences and derivatives 13 (183) 10 (160)
   - other 88 (21) (26) 6 107 154
Special items of operating profit (loss) 2,157 658 1,179 (195) 56  3,855
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 1,547 326 6 465 (507) 61 1,898
Net finance (expense) income(a) (316) (7) (1) (569) (893)
Net income (expense) from investments(a) 262 (15) (161) 6 (95) (3)
Income taxes(a) (1,369) (100) (84) (141) (34) (25) (1,753)
Tax rate (%) 175.0
Adjusted net profit (loss) 124 211 (246) 329 (1,205) 36 (751)
of which attributable to:  

- non-controlling interest 7
- Eni's shareholders (758)

Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders (8,635)
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 937
Exclusion of special items 6,940
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders       (758)

(a) Excluding special items.
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Reported operating profit (loss) 7,417 431 (682) 74 (688) (120) 6,432
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses   (318)   95 (223)
Exclusion of special items:  
   - environmental charges 32 244 62 338
   - impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 1,217 (5) 922 42 12 2,188
   - net gains on disposal of assets (145) (5) (1) (151)
   - risk provisions (18) (2) 23 3
   - provision for redundancy incentives 23 1 8 3 10 45
   - commodity derivatives (576) (118) 255 (439)
   - exchange rate differences and derivatives 14 109 (5) (10) 108
   - other 100 233 (23) 6 (20) 296
Special items of operating profit (loss) 1,223 (238) 1,021 296 86  2,388
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 8,640 193 21 370 (602) (25) 8,597
Net finance (expense) income(a) (362) 3 (36) (1) (525) (921)
Net income (expense) from investments(a) 312 (21) 37 10 43 381
Income taxes(a) (5,154) (75) (64) (104) 218 5 (5,174)
Tax rate (%) 64.2
Adjusted net profit (loss) 3,436 100 (42) 275 (866) (20) 2,883
of which attributable to:  

- non-controlling interest 7
- Eni's shareholders 2,876

Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 148
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses (157)
Exclusion of special items 2,885
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders       2,876

(a) Excluding special items.
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Reported operating profit (loss) 10,214 387 (501) 340 (668) 211 9,983
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses   234   (138) 96
Exclusion of special items:  
   - environmental charges 110 193 (1) 23 325
   - impairment losses (impairments reversal), net 726 (73) 193 2 18 866
   - net gains on disposal of assets (442) (9) (1) (452)
   - risk provisions 360 21 (1) 380
   - provision for redundancy incentives 26 4 8 118 (1) 155
   - commodity derivatives (63) 120 (190) (133)
   - exchange rate differences and derivatives (6) 111 5 (3) 107
   - other (138) (88) 96 (4) 47 (87)
Special items of operating profit (loss) 636 (109) 627 (78) 85  1,161
Adjusted operating profit (loss) 10,850 278 360 262 (583) 73 11,240
Net finance (expense) income(a) (366) (3) 11 (1) (697) (1,056)
Net income (expense) from investments(a) 285 (1) (2) 10 5 297
Income taxes(a) (5,814) (156) (145) (82) 327 (17) (5,887)
Tax rate (%) 56.2
Adjusted net profit (loss) 4,955 118 224 189 (948) 56 4,594
of which attributable to:  

- non-controlling interest 11
- Eni's shareholders 4,583

Reported net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders 4,126
Exclusion of inventory holding (gains) losses 69
Exclusion of special items 388
Adjusted net profit (loss) attributable to Eni's shareholders       4,583

(a) Excluding special items.
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December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET
Items of Summarized Group Balance Sheet
(where not expressly indicated, the item derives 
directly from the statutory scheme) (€ million)

Notes to the 
Consolidated 

Financial 
Statement

Amounts 
from 

statutory 
scheme

Amounts 
of the 

summarized 
Group scheme

Amounts 
from 

statutory 
scheme

Amounts 
of the 

summarized 
Group scheme

Fixed assets      
Property, plant and equipment  53,943 62,192
Right of use  4,643 5,349
Intangible assets  2,936 3,059
Inventories - Compulsory stock  995 1,371
Equity‐accounted investments and other investments  7,706 9,964
Receivables and securities held for operating activities (see note 16)  1,037 1,234
Net payables related to capital expenditure, made up of:  (1,361) (2,235)

- receivables related to disposals (see note 7)      21  30
- receivables related to disposals non‐current (see note 10) 11  11
- payables for purchase of non-current assets (see note 17) (1,393)  (2,276)

Total fixed assets   69,899  80,934
Net working capital   
Inventories  3,893 4,734
Trade receivables (see note 7)  7,087 8,519
Trade payables (see note 17)  (8,679) (10,480)
Net tax assets (liabilities), made up of:  (2,198) (1,594)

- current income tax payables (243)  (456)
- non-current income tax payables (360)  (454)
- other current tax liabilities (see note 10) (1,124)  (1,411)
- deferred tax liabilities (5,524)  (4,920)
- other non‐current tax liabilities (see note 10) (26)  (63)
- current income tax receivables 184  192
- non-current income tax receivables 153  173
- other current tax assets (see note 10) 450  766
- deferred tax assets 4,109  4,360
- other non‐current tax assets (see note 10) 181  223
- receivables for Italian consolidated accounts (see note 7) 3  
- payables for Italian consolidated accounts (see note 17) (1)  (4)

Provisions  (13,438) (14,106)
Other current assets and liabilities, made up of:  (1,328) (1,864)

- short-term financial receivables for operating purposes (see note 16) 22  37
- receivables vs. partners for exploration and production activities and other (see note 7) 3,815  4,324
- other current assets (see note 10) 2,236  3,206
- other receivables and other assets non-current (see note 10) 1,061  637
- advances, other payables, payables vs. partners 
  for exploration and production activities and other (see note 17) (2,863)  (2,785)

- other current liabilities (see note 10) (3,748)  (5,735)
- other payables and other liabilities non-current (see note 10) (1,851)  (1,548)

Total net working capital   (14,663)  (14,791)
Provisions for employee benefits   (1,201)  (1,136)
Assets held for sale including related liabilities   44  18
made up of:   

- assets held for sale 44  18
- liabilities directly associated with held for sale   

CAPITAL EMPLOYED, NET   54,079  65,025
Shareholders' equity including non‐controlling interest   37,493  47,900
Net borrowings   
Total debt, made up of:  26,686 24,518

‐ long‐term debt 21,895  18,910
‐ current portion of long‐term debt 1,909  3,156
‐ short‐term debt 2,882  2,452

less:   
Cash and cash equivalents  (9,413) (5,994)
Securities held for trading  (5,502) (6,760)
Financing receivables held for non‐operating purposes (see note 16)  (203) (287)
Net borrowings before lease liabilities ex IFRS 16   11,568  11,477
Lease liabilities, made up of:  5,018 5,648

- long‐term lease liabilities 4,169  4,759
- current portion of long‐term lease liabilities 849  889

TOTAL NET BORROWINGS POST LEASE LIABILITIES EX IFRS 16(a)   16,586  17,125
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   54,079  65,025
(a) For details on net borrowings see also note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

RECONCILIATION OF SUMMARIZED GROUP BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW TO STATUTORY SCHEMES
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2020 2019
Items of Summarized Cash Flow Statement and
confluence/reclassification of items in the statutory scheme

(€ million)

Amounts 
from statutory 

scheme

Amounts of the 
summarized 

Group scheme

Amounts
 from statutory 

scheme

Amounts of the 
summarized 

Group scheme
Net profit (loss)  (8,628)  155
Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash 
provided by operating activities:   

Depreciation, depletion and amortization and other non monetary items  12,641 10,480

- depreciation, depletion and amortization 7,304  8,106
- impairment losses (impairment reversals) of tangible,  
  intangible and right of use, net 3,183  2,188

- write-off of tangible and intangible assets 329  300

- share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investments 1,733  88

- other changes 92  (179)

- net change in the provisions for employee benefits   (23)

Gains on disposal of assets, net  (9) (170)

Dividends, interests, income taxes and other changes  3,251 6,224

- dividend income (150)  (247)

- interest income (126)  (147)

- interest expense 877  1,027

- income taxes 2,650  5,591

Cash flow from changes in working capital  (18) 366

- inventories 1,054  (200)

- trade receivables 1,316  1,023

- trade payables (1,614)  (940)

- provisions for contingencies (1,056)  272

- other assets and liabilities 282  211

Dividends received  509 1,346

Income taxes paid, net of tax receivables received  (2,049) (5,068)

Interests (paid) received  (875) (941)

- interest received 53  88

- interest paid (928)  (1,029)

Net cash provided by operating activities  4,822  12,392

Investing activities  (4,644) (8,376)

- tangible assets (4,407)  (8,049)

- prepaid right of use   (16)

- intangible assets (237)  (311)

Investments and purchase of consolidated subsidiaries and businesses  (392) (3,008)

‐ investments (283)  (3,003)
‐ Consolidated subsidiaries and businesses net of cash  
  and cash equivalent acquired (109)  (5)

Disposals  28 504

- tangible assets 12  264

- intangible assets   17
- Consolidated subsidiaries and businesses net of cash  
  and cash equivalent disposed of   187

- tax disposals   (3)

- investments 16  39

Other cash flow related to capital expenditure, investments and disposals  (735) (254)
‐ investment of securities and financing receivables held  
  for operating purposes (166)  (237)

‐ change in payables in relation to investing activities (757)  (307)

‐ disposal of securities and financing receivables held for operating purposes 136  195

‐ change in receivables in relation to disposals 52  95

Free cash flow  (921)  1,258

SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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continued SUMMARIZED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2020 2019
Items of Summarized Cash Flow Statement and
confluence/reclassification of items in the statutory scheme

(€ million)

Amounts 
from statutory 

scheme

Amounts of the 
summarized 

Group scheme

Amounts
 from statutory 

scheme

Amounts of the 
summarized 

Group scheme
Free cash flow  (921)  1,258

Borrowings (repayment) of debt related to financing activities  1,156 (279)
- net change of securities and financing receivables held  
  for non-operating purposes 1,156  (279)

Changes in short and long‐term finance debt  3,115 (1,540)

- increase in long-term debt 5,278  1,811

- repayments of long-term debt (3,100)  (3,512)

- increase (decrease) in short-term debt 937  161

Repayment of lease liabilities  (869) (877)

Dividends paid and changes in non‐controlling interest and reserves  (1,968) (3,424)

‐ reimbursement to non-controlling interest   (1)

- net purchase of treasury shares   (400)

- acquisition of additional interests in consolidated subsidiaries   (1)

‐ dividends paid to Eni's shareholders (1,965)  (3,018)

‐ dividends paid to non‐controlling interest (3)  (4)

Issue of perpetual subordinated bonds  2,975
Effect of changes in consolidation, exchange differences and cash  
and cash equivalent  (69) 1

- effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and other changes (69)  1

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent  3,419  (4,861)
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Risk factors and uncertainties

RISK FACTORS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
The risks described below may have a material effect on our 
operational and financial performance. We invite our investors 
to consider these risks carefully. 

Strategic risks and risks related to the business activities and 
industries of Eni and its consolidated subsidiaries 
The Company’s performance is affected by volatile prices of cru-
de oil and produced natural gas and by fluctuating margins on 
the marketing of natural gas and on the integrated production 
and marketing of refined products and chemical products 

The price of crude oil is the single, largest variable that affects 
the Company’s operating performance and cash flow. The price 
of crude oil has a history of volatility because, like other com-
modities, it is cyclical and is influenced by several macro-fac-
tors that are beyond management’s control. Crude oil prices are 
mainly driven by the balance between global oil supplies and 
demand and hence the global levels of inventories and spare 
capacity. In the short-term, worldwide demand for crude oil is 
highly correlated to the macroeconomic cycle. A downturn in 
economic activity normally triggers lower global demand for 
crude oil and possibly a supply build-up. Whenever global sup-
plies of crude oil outstrip demand, crude oil prices weaken. Fac-
tors that can influence the global economic activity in the short-
term and demand for crude oil include several, unpredictable 
events, like trends in the economic growth in China, India, the 
United States and other large oil-consuming Countries, financial 
crisis, geo-political crisis, local conflicts and wars, social insta-
bility, pandemic diseases, the flows of international commerce, 
trade disputes and governments’ fiscal policies, among others. 
All these events could influence demands for crude oil. In the 
long-term, factors which can influence demands for crude oil in-
clude on the positive side demographic growth, improving living 
standards and GDP expansion. Negative factors that may af-
fect demand in the long-term comprise availability of alternative 
sources of energy (e.g., nuclear and renewables), technological 
advances affecting energy efficiency, measures which have 
been adopted or planned by governments all around the world 
to tackle climate change and to curb carbon-dioxide emissions 
(CO2 emissions), including stricter regulations and control on 
production and consumption of crude oil, or a shift in consumer 
preferences. The civil society and several governments all over 
the world, with the EU leading the way, have announced plans to 
transition towards a low carbon model through various means 
and strategies, particularly by supporting  development of re-
newable energies and the replacement of internal combustion 
vehicles with electric vehicles, including the possible adoption 

of tougher regulations on the use of hydrocarbons such as the 
taxation of CO2 emissions as a mitigation action of the clima-
te change risk. The push to reduce worldwide greenhouse gas 
emissions and an ongoing energy transition towards a low 
carbon economy, which are widely considered to be irreversi-
ble trends, will represent in our view major trends in shaping 
global demand for crude oil over the long-term and may lead to 
structural lower crude oil demands and consumption. We also 
believe that the dramatic events of 2020 in relation to the spre-
ad of the COVID-19 pandemic could have possibly accelerated 
those trends. See the section dedicated to the discussion of cli-
mate-related risks below.

Global production of crude oil is controlled to a large degree by 
the OPEC cartel, which has recently extended to include other 
important oil producers like Russia and Kazakhstan (so-called 
OPEC+). Saudi Arabia plays a crucial role within the cartel, be-
cause it is estimated to hold huge amounts of reserves and 
a vast majority of worldwide spare production capacity. This 
explains why geopolitical developments in the Middle East and 
particularly in the Gulf area, like regional conflicts, acts of war, 
strikes, attacks, sabotages and social and political tensions can 
have a big influence on crude oil prices. Also, sanctions impo-
sed by the United States and the EU against certain producing 
Countries may influence trends in crude oil prices. However, we 
believe that the continued rise of crude oil production in the Uni-
ted States due to the technology-driven shale oil revolution has 
somewhat reduced the ability of the OPEC+ to control the glo-
bal supply of oil. To a lesser extent, factors like adverse weather 
conditions such as, hurricanes in sensitive areas like the Gulf of 
Mexico, and operational issues at key petroleum infrastructure 
can influence crude oil prices.

The year 2020 was one of the worst on record for the Oil & Gas 
industry due to the far-reaching consequences of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the long-term impacts of which have yet to be under-
stood and estimated. Almost all of the companies in the sector 
suffered material economic losses and cash flow shortfalls and 
saw their business fundamentals along with share prices signi-
ficantly deteriorate due to a massive hit to global demand for 
crude oil and other energy products and to collapsing commo-
dity prices as direct consequences of the lockdown measures 
imposed in the first months of the year by governments throu-
ghout the world to contain the spread of the pandemic, leading 
to the suppression of industrial activity, international commer-
ce and travel as well as souring the moods of consumers. To 
make things worse, while demand was falling precipitously, in 
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March 2020 the OPEC+ failed to reach a deal for production 
cuts claimed by some members to counteract the effects of 
the COVID-19 pandemic and Saudi Arabia decided to increase 
its output and reduce prices to gain market share. The concur-
rence of a material reduction in global crude oil demand and 
rising production on the part of the OPEC+ members triggered 
a collapse in crude oil prices. At the peak of the COVID-19 crisis 
and the price war, the value of the Brent crude benchmark had 
fallen to below 15 $/BBL, marking the lowest point over several 
decades on an inflation-adjusted basis. The situation of extre-
me oversupply in the month of April 2020 was signalled by bal-
looning global inventories, depletion of storage capacity and a 
strong contango structure in the prices of contracts for future 
deliveries. Subsequently, with the gradual easing of lockdown 
measures and the implementation from May 2020 of major 
output cuts by the members of the OPEC+ as well as major ca-
pex curtailments implemented by international Oil & Gas com-
panies, Brent prices staged a significant comeback, recovering 
to a level of almost 45 $/BBL in July. However, this recovery 
weakened at the end of the summer and in the autumn months 
due to a continuing rise in COVID-19 cases in western Coun-
tries, particularly in the United States, continental Europe and 
the UK forcing national or local governments to re-impose new 
restrictive measures or full lockdowns to curb the spread of the 
virus, which negatively affected the pace of economic recovery 
and the consumption of fuels like gasoline and gasoil. On the 
other hand, an acceleration in the economic recovery in main-
land China and other Asian Countries where the virus was more 
effectively contained helped sustain the price of crude oil and 
a reduction in global inventories. Finally, the recovery of crude 
oil prices gained strength in the final months of 2020 and in the 
first months of 2021 due to a favourable combination of market 
and macro developments, most notably: a break-through in the 
development and approval of effective vaccines against CO-
VID-19, further acceleration in the pace of economic activity in 
Asia, the outcome of the presidential election in the United Sta-
tes which fuelled expectations of large stimulus measures in fa-
vour of the U.S. economy, the continuing commitments on the 
part of OPEC+ to support the rebalancing of the oil market by 
slowing down the planned curtailments of the extra production 
quotas enacted in May 2020 and finally the surprising announ-
cement by Saudi Arabia that it would implement a voluntary cut 
of its production quota of 1 million barrels/day in the months of 
February and March 2021 to compensate for any possible im-
pact on demand due to recrudescence of the pandemic in we-
stern Countries. Unexpectedly, while oil companies’ executives, 
traders and fund managers were weighing all these macro and 
market developments, a massive, unprecedented cold snap hit 

the Northern-Eastern hemisphere, particularly Japan, South Ko-
rea and China, causing a spike in demand for oil-based heating 
fuels and LNG, which significantly boosted the market prices 
of all hydrocarbons. Due to such recent developments, Brent 
crude oil prices strengthened to 50 $/bbl at the end of 2020 and 
then rallied further in the first quarter of 2021 averaging about 
60 $/bbl. Despite this improvement, we expect the trading en-
vironment for crude oil price to remain volatile and uncertain in 
2021 due to the virus overhang, a weak macroeconomic back-
drop in the United States and Europe and high inventory levels 
in OECD Countries, which remain above historical averages.

The COVID-19 pandemic negatively and materially affected 
a weak global natural gas market. As a result of the gas de-
mand collapse recorded in the first half of 2020 due to the 
economic crisis resulting from COVID-19, gas prices fell to 
unprecedented lows in all the main geographies. Likewise, 
crude oil and natural gas prices recovered in the second half 
of the year supported by an improving economy and falling 
production levels due to capex constraints on global Oil & Gas 
companies. Overall, natural gas prices fell remarkably in 2020 
(the prices at the Italian spot market were 35% lower than 
in 2019). However, at the end of 2020 and in January 2021 
natural gas prices staged a material comeback supported by 
record seasonal demand in the Northern-Eastern hemisphere 
driven by record low temperatures.

Lower hydrocarbon prices from one year to another negati-
vely affect the Group’s consolidated results of operations and 
cash flow. This is because lower prices translate into lower 
revenues recognised in the Company’s Exploration & Pro-
duction segment at the time of the price change, whereas 
expenses in this segment are either fixed or less sensitive to 
changes in crude oil prices than revenues. In 2020, the Brent 
price averaged about 42 $/bbl, a decrease of 35% compared 
to 2019, which significantly and adversely affected Eni’s resul-
ts of operations and cash flow for the year. We estimated that 
lower equity crude oil realizations and other scenario effects 
(lower equity gas prices, lower refining margins and other 
declines as described below) reduced the Company’s under-
lying operating profit and the net cash provided by operating 
activities by about €7 billion.
Considering the risks and uncertainties to the outlook for 2021, 
we are retaining a prudent financial framework and capital di-
scipline in our investment decisions, while we are assuming a 
Brent price forecast of 50 $/bbl for the full year. Based on the 
current Oil & Gas assets portfolio of Eni, management estima-
tes that the Company’s cash flow from operations will vary by 
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approximately €150 million for each one-dollar change in the 
price of the Brent crude oil benchmark compared to the 50 $/
bbl scenario adopted by management for the current year and 
for proportional changes in gas prices.

In addition to the short-term impacts on the Group’s profitability, 
a market crisis like the one experienced in 2020 may also alter 
the fundamentals of the oil and natural gas markets. Lower oil 
and gas prices over prolonged periods of time may have mate-
rial adverse effects on Eni’s performance and business outlook, 
because such a scenario may limit the Group’s ability to finance 
expansion projects, further reducing the Company’s ability to 
grow future production and revenues, and to meet contractual 
obligations. The Company may also need to review investment 
decisions and the viability of development projects and capex 
plans and, as a result of this review, the Company could re-
schedule, postpone or curtail development projects. A structu-
ral decline in hydrocarbon prices could trigger a review of the 
carrying amounts of oil and gas properties and this could result 
in recording material asset impairments and in the de-booking 
of proved reserves, if they become uneconomic in this type of 
environment. 

In the course of 2020 Eni’s management revised its view of 
the oil market fundamentals to factor in certain emerging 
trends. Management considered that the lockdown measu-
res in response to COVID-19 could result in a prolonged pe-
riod of weak oil demand. Furthermore, the massive actions 
in support of the economic recovery planned by governmen-
ts in several Countries may have a strong environmental fo-
otprint and be supportive of the green economy, leading to 
a potential acceleration in the pace of energy transition and 
in the replacement of hydrocarbons in the energy mix in the 
long-term. Based on these considerations, in 2020 the Com-
pany revised its long-term forecast for hydrocarbon prices, 
which are the main driver of capital allocations decisions 
and of the recoverability assessment of the book values of 
our non-current assets. The revised scenario adopted by Eni 
foresees a long-term price of the marker Brent of 60 $/bbl 
in 2023 real terms compared to the previous assumption of 
70 $/bbl. The price of natural gas at the Italian spot market 
“PSV” is estimated at 5.5 $/mmBTU in real terms in 2023 
as compared to the previous assumption of 7.8 $/mmBTU. 
This changed outlook for hydrocarbons prices drove the re-
cognition of significant impairment losses relating to Oil & 
Gas assets (€1.9 billion, pre-tax). For further details, see the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. Furthermo-
re, given the decline in crude oil prices used in the estimation 
of proved reserves according to the SEC rules compared to 
2019 (average of the first-of-the-day price of each month at 
41 $/bbl in 2020 vs. 63 $/bbl in 2019), we were forced to 
debook 124 mmBOE of reserves that have become uneco-
nomic in this environment. 

Finally, during a downturn like the one experienced in 2020, the 
Group’s access to capital may be reduced and lead to a down-
grade or other negative rating action with respect to the Group’s 
credit rating by rating agencies. These downgrades may nega-
tively affect the Group’s cost of capital, increase the Group’s fi-
nancial expenses, and may limit the Group’s ability to access 
capital markets and execute aspects of the Group’s business 
plans. 

Eni estimates that approximately 50% of its current production 
is exposed to fluctuations in hydrocarbons prices. Exposure to 
this strategic risk is not subject to economic hedging, except 
for some specific market conditions or transactions. The re-
maining portion of Eni’s current production is largely unaffected 
by crude oil price movements considering that the Company’s 
property portfolio is characterized by a sizeable presence of 
production sharing contracts, whereby the Company is entitled 
to a portion of a field’s reserves, the sale of which is intended 
to cover expenditures incurred by the Company to develop and 
operate the field. The higher the reference prices for Brent crude 
oil used to estimate Eni’s proved reserves, the lower the number 
of barrels necessary to recover the same amount of expenditu-
re and hence production, and vice versa.

All these risks may adversely and materially impact the Group’s 
results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, fi-
nancial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, 
the amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the 
price of Eni’s share.

Margins on the manufacturing and sale of fuels and other refi-
ned products, chemical commodities, and other energy com-
modities are driven by economic growth, global and regional dy-
namics in supplies and demand and other competitive factors. 
Generally speaking, the prices of products mirror that of oil-ba-
sed feedstock, but they can also move independently. Margins 
for refined and chemical products depend upon the speed at 
which products’ prices adjust to reflect movements in oil prices. 
Margins at our business of wholesale marketing of natural gas 
are driven by the spreads between spot prices at continental 
hubs to which our procurement costs are indexed and the spot 
prices at the Italian hub where a large part of our gas sales oc-
cur. These spreads can be very volatile.
In 2020, demand and margins for fuels and petrochemical pro-
ducts were materially hit by the economic downturn triggered 
by the COVID-19 pandemic, resulting in lower demand for fuels 
and petrochemical commodities. The trading environment was 
particularly unfavourable in the refining business due to an un-
precedented combination of negative market trends. During the 
peak of the pandemic crisis in the second quarter of 2020, the 
lockdown measures imposed by governments throughout the 
world to curb the spread of the pandemic resulted in the sup-
pression of air travel and people’s commuting by car leading to 
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a massive decline in worldwide consumption of gasoline, kero-
sene and other fuels. Furthermore, while those restrictive mea-
sures were eased in Asia and other parts of the world, they have 
continued or have been re-imposed in Italy and other European 
Countries, which are the main reference markets of our refining 
and marketing business. Although since the implementation of 
the production cuts by OPEC+ producers, crude oil prices have 
been moderately recovering throughout 2020, the increases in 
the cost of the feedstock did not translate into higher prices 
of fuels due to a depressed demand environment. Finally, the 
profitability of our business was also negatively affected by the 
appreciation of sour crude oils towards medium/light qualities 
such as the Brent, due to market dislocations and the effects 
of the production cuts implemented by the OPEC+, which re-
duced availability of sour crudes in the marketplace. This latter 
trend negatively affected the profitability of conversion plants, 
which are normally supported by the fact that heavy and sour 
crudes trade at a discount vs. the light qualities as the Brent. 
Due to all those market trends, the Company’s own internal 
performance measure to gauge the profitability of its refineries, 
the SERM (see glossary), fell to historic lows over the second 
half of 2020, plunging into negative territory at the end of 2020 
and the beginning of 2021 in concomitance with the rally in 
crude oil prices, which has yet to be supported by a recovery 
of fuel demand in Europe. This trend will negatively affect the 
profitability of our refining business in 2021. The sales volumes 
at our network of service stations were significantly impacted 
by lower consumption due to the lockdown and anti-pandemic 
measures. The deteriorated outlook for refining margins and 
fuels consumption triggered a revision of the book value of the 
Company’s oil-based refining assets leading to the recognition 
of €1.2 billion of impairment losses. 

The chemical business of Eni was negatively affected by a si-
gnificant reduction in demand in the segments most exposed 
to the COVID-19 crisis such as elastomers following the con-
traction in the automotive sector, while the polyethylene mar-
gins were supported both by the reduction in the cost of oil 
feedstock and by strong demand for single-use plastics and 
packaging as consequence of higher demand for goods related 
to “stay-at-home economy”.

There is strong competition worldwide, both within the oil indu-
stry and with other industries, to supply energy and petroleum 
products to the industrial, commercial and residential energy 
markets

Eni faces strong competition in each of its business segments.

The current competitive environment in which Eni operates is 
characterised by volatile prices and margins of energy commo-
dities, limited product differentiation and complex relationships 
with state-owned companies and national agencies of the 

Countries where hydrocarbons reserves are located to obtain 
mineral rights. As commodity prices are beyond the Company’s 
control, Eni’s ability to remain competitive and profitable in this 
environment requires continuous focus on technological inno-
vation, the achievement of efficiencies in operating costs, ef-
fective management of capital resources and the ability to pro-
vide valuable services to energy buyers. It also depends on Eni’s 
ability to gain access to new investment opportunities. The 
economic crisis caused by the suppression of industrial activi-
ty and travel in response to the COVID-19 pandemic materially 
and negatively impacted demand for the Company’s products, 
driving a strong increase in the level of competition across all 
sectors where we are operating. We believe that the pandemic 
will have enduring effects on the competition within the Oil & 
Gas sectors, including the refining and marketing of fuels and 
other energy commodities and the supply of energy products to 
the retail segment.
	In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni is facing com-

petition from both international and state-owned oil compa-
nies for obtaining exploration and development rights and 
developing and applying new technologies to maximise hy-
drocarbon recovery. Because of its smaller size relative to 
other international oil companies, Eni may face a competitive 
disadvantage when bidding for large scale or capital intensive 
projects and it may be exposed to the risk of obtaining lower 
cost savings in a deflationary environment compared to its 
larger competitors given its potentially smaller market power 
with respect to suppliers. Due to those competitive pressu-
res, Eni may fail to obtain new exploration and development 
acreage, to apply and develop new technologies and to con-
trol costs. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused exploration 
& production companies to significantly reduce their capital 
investment in response to lower cash flows from operations 
and to focus on the more profitable and scenario-resilient 
projects. We believe that this development will be long-lasting 
and likely drive increased competition among players to gain 
access to relatively cheaper reserves (onshore vs. offshore; 
proven areas vs. unexplored areas).

	In the Global Gas & LNG Portfolio business, Eni is facing 
strong competition in the European wholesale markets to sell 
gas to industrial customers, the thermoelectric sector and 
retail companies from other gas wholesalers, upstream com-
panies, traders and other players. The results of our wholesa-
le gas business are subject to global and regional dynamics 
of gas demand and supplies. The results of the LNG business 
are mainly influenced by the global balance between demand 
and supplies, considering the higher level of flexibility of LNG 
with respect to gas delivered via pipeline. In 2020, the econo-
mic crisis triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated 
the already weak fundamentals of the gas market. In fact, the 
lockdown of European economies resulted in sharply lower 
gas consumption leading to intensified competitive pressu-
res. These developments caused lower sales volumes of gas 
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marketed via pipeline and by our LNG business and signifi-
cantly lower prices. In 2020 Eni’s gas and LNG sales declined 
by 11% due to the impact of the economic crisis triggered by 
the pandemic. Sales margins at our LNG business were put 
under pressure by collapsing demand due to the lockdown 
of Asian economies, which are the main outlet of global LNG 
production, as many buyers requested activation of the force 
majeure clauses for not lifting LNG contracted volumes. The-
se developments led to increased competition in the global 
LNG market, dragging down sales margins. We expect conti-
nued competitive pressure in our wholesale gas and LNG bu-
sinesses. However, in the first months of 2021 a colder-than 
normal winter in the Northern Hemisphere has supported the 
price of gas and LNG. 

	In the Refining & Marketing segment, Eni is facing competi-
tion both in the refining business and in the retail marketing 
activity. Our Refining business has been negatively affected 
for years by structural headwinds due to muted trends in the 
European demand for fuels, refining overcapacity and conti-
nued competitive pressure from players in the Middle East, 
the United States and Far East Asia. Those competitors can 
leverage on larger plant scale and cost economies, availabi-
lity of cheaper feedstock and lower energy expenses. This 
unfavourable competitive environment has been exacerba-
ted by the effects of the 2020 economic crisis due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the consequent lockdown of entire eco-
nomies and travel restrictions, which drove a collapse in the 
consumption of motor gasoline, jet fuels and other refined 
products. In the initial stages of the global energy downturn, 
refining margins were supported by a collapse in crude oil 
prices. Subsequently, as crude oil prices found support in the 
production curtailments implemented by the OPEC+, refining 
margins were severely hit by the weakness in global demand 
for fuels due to low propensity of people for travelling, which 
squeezed relative prices of fuels vs. the oil feedstock cost. 
This trend became particularly unfavourable starting from 
the summer months when refining margins were much less 
profitable, until the last months of the year when they even re-
corded negative value. On average, in 2020, the refining mar-
gin (SERM) dropped materially, down by 60% as compared 
to the prior year. Furthermore, Eni’s refining profitability was 
exposed to the volatility in the spreads between crudes with 
high sulphur content or sour crudes and the Brent crude ben-
chmark, which is a low-content sulphur crude. Eni’s complex 
refineries are able to process sour crudes, which typically tra-
de at a discount over Brent crude. Historically, this discount 
has supported the profitability of complex refineries, like our 
plant at Sannazzaro in Italy. However, in the course of 2020, 
a shortfall in supplies of sour crudes due to the production 
cuts implemented by OPEC+ in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, drove an appreciation of the relative prices of sour 
crudes as compared to Brent, which negatively affected the 
results of Eni’s refining business by reducing the advantage 

of processing sour crudes. Eni believes that the competitive 
environment of the refining sector will remain challenging 
in the foreseeable future, considering ongoing uncertainties 
and risks relating to the strength of the economic recovery 
in Europe and worldwide, and risks of another round of lock-
down measures in case of failure by governments to effecti-
vely contain the spread of the pandemic, which would weigh 
heavily on demand for fuels. Other risks factors include refi-
ning overcapacity in the European area and expectations of 
a new investment cycle driven by capacity expansion plans 
announced in Asia and the Middle East, potentially leading 
to global oversupplies of refinery products. Due to a reduced 
profitability outlook in the refining business, management re-
cognized impairment charges of €1.2 billion to align the book 
value of refineries to their realizable values.

	 The business of marketing refined products to drivers at our 
network of service stations and to large account customers 
(airlines, public administrations, transport and industrial cu-
stomers, bulk buyers and resellers) is facing competition 
from other oil companies and newcomers such as low-scale 
and local operators, and un-branded networks with light cost 
structure. All of these operators compete with each other pri-
marily in terms of pricing and, to a lesser extent, service qua-
lity. Against this backdrop, in 2020 the lockdown measures 
adopted to contain the spread of the pandemic resulted in the 
suppression of travel and road transportation which weighed 
heavily on throughput volumes at our network of service sta-
tions in Italy and other European markets which were down 
by 19.9% as compared to the prior year. 

	Eni’s Chemical business is in a highly-cyclical, very competiti-
ve sector. We have been facing for years strong competition 
from well-established international players and state-owned 
petrochemical companies, particularly in the most commodi-
tised market segments such as the production of basic petro-
chemical products (like ethylene and polyethylene), where de-
mand is a function of macroeconomic growth. Many of these 
competitors based in the Far East and the Middle East have 
been able to benefit from cost economies due to larger plant 
scale, wide geographic moat, availability of cheap feedstock 
and proximity to end-markets. Excess worldwide capacity of 
petrochemical commodities has also fuelled competition in 
this business. Furthermore, petrochemical producers based 
in the United States have regained market share, as their cost 
structure has become competitive due to the availability of 
cheap feedstock deriving from the production of domestic 
shale gas from which ethane is derived, which is a cheaper 
raw material for the production of ethylene than the oil-based 
feedstock utilised by Eni’s petrochemical subsidiaries. Finally, 
rising public concern about climate change and the preser-
vation of the environment has begun to negatively affect the 
consumption of single-use plastics. In 2020, these competi-
tive dynamics were greatly amplified by the economic crisis 
triggered by the lockdown measures in response to the CO-
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VID-19 pandemic, which negatively affected plant utilization 
rates and sales volumes, particularly in those segments more 
exposed to the recession of their customer segments, like in 
the case of sales volumes of elastomers to the automotive 
industry. However, other chemicals segments performed re-
latively well, because the “stay-at-home economy” boosted 
demands for certain products like polyethylene, that is utili-
zed in the packaging of food and other consumer goods as 
well as in materials for the sanitary emergency. These trends 
supported polyethylene margins. Looking forward, manage-
ment believes that the competitive environment in the Chemi-
cals businesses will remain challenging due to uncertainties 
and risks relating to the strength of the economic recovery or 
another round of lockdown measures in case of by govern-
ments to effectively contain the spread of the pandemic.

	Eni’s Retail gas and power business engages in the supply of 
gas and electricity to customers in the retail markets mainly 
in Italy, France and other Countries in Europe. Customers 
include households, large residential accounts (hospitals, 
schools, public administration buildings, offices) and small 
and medium-sized businesses. The retail market is characte-
rised by strong competition among selling companies which 
mainly compete in terms of pricing and the ability to bundle 
valuable services with the supply of the energy commodity. In 
this segment, competition has intensified in recent years due 
to the progressive liberalisation of the market and the ability 
of residential customers to switch smoothly from one sup-
plier to another. In 2020, the performance of this business 
was negatively affected by the economic crisis caused by 
the lockdown measures imposed to contain the spread of 
COVID-19, which reduced energy demand particularly in the 
segments of medium and small businesses, increased credit 
risk and triggered increased credit losses. In 2020, sales vo-
lumes of natural gas to the retail market fell by 11%; however, 
this trend was partly offset by greater power requirements 
due to the “stay-at-home economy” with sales volumes up by 
13% for the year. We anticipate that competition will remain 
strong in this business due to the likelihood of a slow eco-
nomic recovery and weak trends in energy consumption, as 
well as the potential risk of yet another downturn in case of 
new lockdown measures to contain the pandemic and rising 
sensitivity among households and businesses to reduce the 
cost of the energy bill.  

Eni also engages in the business of producing gas-fired electrici-
ty that is largely sold at wholesale energy market and balancing 
market (so called MSD) in Italy. Margins on the sale of electricity 
have declined in recent years due to oversupplies, weak eco-
nomic growth and inter-fuel competition. The pandemic-driven 
economic crisis has exacerbated those trends, causing a ma-
terial reduction in power consumption due to the lockdowns of 
entire industrial sectors and producing activities. In 2020, power 
sales in the wholesale market in Italy fell by 10% due to lower 

consumption by Italian businesses. Management believes that 
these factors will continue to negatively affect clean spark spre-
ad margins on electricity in the Italian wholesale markets.

In case the Company is unable to effectively manage the above 
described competitive risks, which may increase in case of a we-
aker-than-anticipated recovery in the post-pandemic economy 
or in a worst case scenario of the imposition by governments 
of new lockdown measures and other restrictions in response 
to the pandemic, the Group’s future results of operations, cash 
flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, sharehol-
der returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available 
for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares may be ad-
versely and significantly affected.

Safety, security, environmental and other operational risks
The Group engages in the exploration and production of oil and 
natural gas, processing, transportation and refining of crude oil, 
transport of natural gas, storage and distribution of petroleum 
products and the production of base chemicals, plastics and 
elastomers. By their nature, the Group’s operations expose Eni 
to a wide range of significant health, safety, security and en-
vironmental risks. Technical faults, malfunctioning of plants, 
equipment and facilities, control systems failure, human errors, 
acts of sabotage, attacks, loss of containment and adverse 
weather events can trigger damaging consequences such as 
explosions, blow-outs, fires, oil and gas spills from wells, pi-
peline and tankers, release of contaminants and pollutants in 
the air, the ground and in the water, toxic emissions and other 
negative events. The magnitude of these risks is influenced by 
the geographic range, operational diversity and technical com-
plexity of Eni’s activities. Eni’s future results of operations and 
liquidity depend on its ability to identify and address the risks 
and hazards inherent to operating in those industries.

In the Exploration & Production segment, Eni faces natural ha-
zards and other operational risks including those relating to the 
physical and geological characteristics of oil and natural gas 
fields. These include the risks of eruptions of crude oil or of 
natural gas, discovery of hydrocarbon pockets with abnormal 
pressure, crumbling of well openings, leaks that can harm the 
environment and the security of Eni’s personnel and risks of 
blowout, fire or explosion.

Eni’s activities in the Refining & Marketing and Chemical seg-
ment entail health, safety and environmental risks related to the 
handling, transformation and distribution of oil, oil products and 
certain petrochemical products. These risks can arise from the 
intrinsic characteristics and the overall lifecycle of the products 
manufactured and the raw materials used in the manufacturing 
process, such as oil-based feedstock, catalysts, additives and 
monomer feedstock. These risks comprise flammability, toxi-
city, long-term environmental impact such as greenhouse gas 
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emissions and risks of various forms of pollution and contami-
nation of the soil and the groundwater, emissions and dischar-
ges resulting from their use and from recycling or disposing of 
materials and wastes at the end of their useful life.

All of Eni’s segments of operations involve, to varying degrees, 
the transportation of hydrocarbons. Risks in transportation 
activities depend on several factors and variables, including the 
hazardous nature of the products transported due to their flam-
mability and toxicity, the transportation methods utilized (pipeli-
nes, shipping, river freight, rail, road and gas distribution networ-
ks), the volumes involved and the sensitivity of the regions 
through which the transport passes (quality of infrastructure, 
population density, environmental considerations). All modes 
of transportation of hydrocarbons are particularly susceptible 
to risks of blowout, fire and loss of containment and, given that 
normally high volumes are involved, could present significant 
risks to people, the environment and the property.

Eni has material offshore operations relating to the exploration 
and production of hydrocarbons. In 2020, approximately 65% 
of Eni’s total oil and gas production for the year derived from 
offshore fields, mainly in Egypt, Libya, Angola, Norway, Congo, 
Indonesia, the United Arab Emirates, Italy, Ghana, Venezuela, 
the United Kingdom, Nigeria and the United States. Offshore 
operations in the oil and gas industry are inherently riskier than 
onshore activities. Offshore accidents and spills could cause 
damage of catastrophic proportions to the ecosystem and to 
communities’ health and security due to the apparent difficul-
ties in handling hydrocarbons containment, pollution, poisoning 
of water and organisms, length and complexity of cleaning 
operations and other factors. Furthermore, offshore operations 
are subject to marine risks, including storms and other adverse 
weather conditions and perils of vessel collisions, which may 
cause material adverse effects on the Group’s operations and 
the ecosystem.

The Company has invested and will continue to invest signifi-
cant financial resources to continuously upgrade the methods 
and systems for safeguarding the reliability of its plants, pro-
duction facilities, transport and storage infrastructures, the 
safety and the health of its employees, contractors, local com-
munities and the environment, to prevent risks, to comply with 
applicable laws and policies and to respond to and learn from 
unforeseen incidents. Eni seeks to manage these operational 
risks by carefully designing and building facilities, including 
wells, industrial complexes, plants and equipment, pipelines, 
storage sites and other facilities, and managing its operations 
in a safe and reliable manner and in compliance with all appli-
cable rules and regulations, as well as by applying the best avai-
lable techniques in the marketplace. However, these measures 
may ultimately not be completely successful in preventing 
and/or altogether eliminating risks of adverse events. Failure 

to properly manage these risks as well as accidental events 
like human errors, unexpected system failure, sabotages or 
other unexpected drivers could cause oil spills, blowouts, fire, 
release of toxic gas and pollutants into the atmosphere or the 
environment or in underground water and other incidents, all 
of which could lead to loss of life, damage to properties, envi-
ronmental pollution, legal liabilities and/or damage claims and 
consequently a disruption in operations and potential econo-
mic losses that could have a material and adverse effect on the 
Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business pro-
spects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, including 
dividends, the amount of funds available for stock repurchases 
and the price of Eni’s shares.

Eni’s operations are often conducted in difficult and/or envi-
ronmentally sensitive locations such as the Gulf of Mexico, the 
Caspian Sea and the Arctic. In such locations, the consequen-
ces of any incident could be greater than in other locations. 
Eni also faces risks once production is discontinued because 
Eni’s activities require the decommissioning of productive infra-
structures and environmental sites remediation and clean-up. 
Furthermore, in certain situations where Eni is not the operator, 
the Company may have limited influence and control over third 
parties, which may limit its ability to manage and control such 
risks. Eni retains worldwide third-party liability insurance cove-
rage, which is designed to hedge part of the liabilities associa-
ted with damage to third parties, loss of value to the Group’s 
assets related to unfavourable events and in connection with 
environmental clean-up and remediation. As of the date of this 
filing, maximum compensation allowed under such insurance 
coverage is equal to $1.2 billion in case of offshore incident and 
$1.4 billion in case of incident at onshore facilities (refineries). 
Additionally, the Company may also activate further insurance 
coverage in case of specific capital projects and other industrial 
initiatives. Management believes that its insurance coverage is 
in line with industry practice and is enough to cover normal risks 
in its operations. However, the Company is not insured against 
all potential risks. In the event of a major environmental disaster, 
such as the incident which occurred at the Macondo well in the 
Gulf of Mexico several years ago, for example, Eni’s third-party 
liability insurance would not provide any material coverage and 
thus the Company’s liability would far exceed the maximum co-
verage provided by its insurance. The loss Eni could suffer in 
case of a disaster of material proportions would depend on all 
the facts and circumstances of the event and would be subject 
to a whole range of uncertainties, including legal uncertainty as 
to the scope of liability for consequential damages, which may 
include economic damage not directly connected to the disa-
ster. The Company cannot guarantee that it will not suffer any 
uninsured loss and there can be no guarantee, particularly in the 
case of a major environmental disaster or industrial accident, 
that such a loss would not have a material adverse effect on 
the Company. 
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The occurrence of any of the above mentioned risks could have 
a material and adverse impact on the Group’s results of opera-
tions, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condi-
tion, and shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount 
of funds available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s 
shares and could also damage the Group’s reputation.

Risks deriving from Eni’s exposure to weather conditions
Significant changes in weather conditions in Italy and in the rest 
of Europe from year to year may affect demand for natural gas 
and some refined products. In colder years, demand for such 
products is higher. Accordingly, the results of operations of our 
businesses engaged in the marketing of natural gas and, to a 
lesser extent, the Refining & Marketing business, as well as the 
comparability of results over different periods may be affected 
by such changes in weather conditions. Over recent years, this 
pattern could have been possibly affected by the rising fre-
quency of weather trends like milder winter or extreme weather 
events like heatwaves or unusually cold snaps, which are pos-
sible consequences of climate change. In 2020, our sales volu-
mes of gas both at wholesale markets and at the retail sector 
particularly in Italy were negatively affected by lower seasonal 
sales in the first quarter.

Risks associated with the exploration and production of oil 
and natural gas
The exploration and production of oil and natural gas require 
high levels of capital expenditures and are subject to natural 
hazards and other uncertainties, including those relating to the 
physical characteristics of oil and gas fields. The exploration 
and production activities are subject to mining risk and the risks 
of cost overruns and delayed start-up at the projects to develop 
and produce hydrocarbons reserves. Those risks could have an 
adverse, significant impact on Eni’s future growth prospects, 
results of operations, cash flows, liquidity and shareholders’ 
returns.

The production of oil and natural gas is highly regulated and 
is subject to conditions imposed by governments throughout 
the world in matters such as the award of exploration and pro-
duction leases, the imposition of specific drilling and other work 
obligations, higher-than-average rates of income taxes, additio-
nal royalties and taxes on production, environmental protection 
measures, control over the development and decommissioning 
of fields and installations, and restrictions on production. A de-
scription of the main risks facing the Company’s business in 
the exploration and production of oil and gas is provided below.

Exploratory drilling efforts may be unsuccessful

Exploration activities are mainly subject to mining risk, i.e. 
the risk of dry holes or failure to find commercial quantities 
of hydrocarbons. The costs of drilling and completing wells 

have margins of uncertainty, and drilling operations may be 
unsuccessful because of a large variety of factors, including 
geological failure, unexpected drilling conditions, pressure or 
heterogeneities in formations, equipment failures, well control 
(blowouts) and other forms of accidents. A large part of the 
Company exploratory drilling operations is located offshore, in-
cluding in deep and ultra-deep waters, in remote areas and in 
environmentally-sensitive locations (such as the Barents Sea, 
the Gulf of Mexico, deep water prospect off West Africa, Indo-
nesia, the Mediterranean Sea and the Caspian Sea). In these lo-
cations, the Company generally experiences higher operational 
risks and more challenging conditions and incurs higher explo-
ration costs than onshore. Furthermore, deep and ultra-deep 
water operations require significant time before commercial 
production of discovered reserves can commence, increasing 
both the operational and the financial risks associated with the-
se activities. Because Eni plans to make significant investmen-
ts in executing exploration projects, it is likely that the Company 
will incur significant amounts of dry hole expenses in future ye-
ars. Unsuccessful exploration activities and failure to discover 
additional commercial reserves could reduce future production 
of oil and natural gas, which is highly dependent on the rate 
of success of exploration projects and could have an adverse 
impact on Eni’s future performance and returns.

Development projects bear significant operational risks which 
may adversely affect actual returns

Eni is executing or is planning to execute several development 
projects to produce and market hydrocarbon reserves. Certain 
projects target the development of reserves in high-risk areas, 
particularly deep offshore and in remote and hostile environ-
ments or in environmentally sensitive locations. Eni’s future re-
sults of operations and business prospects depend heavily on 
its ability to implement, develop and operate major projects as 
planned. Key factors that may affect the economics of these 
projects include:
	the outcome of negotiations with joint venture partners, 

governments and state-owned companies, suppliers and 
potential customers to define project terms and conditions, 
including, for example, Eni’s ability to negotiate favourable 
long-term contracts to market gas reserves;

	commercial arrangements and granting of all necessary ad-
ministrative authorizations to build pipelines and related equi-
pment to transport and market hydrocarbons;

	timely issuance of permits and licenses by government 
agencies;

	the ability to carry out the front-end engineering design in or-
der to prevent the occurrence of technical inconvenience du-
ring the execution phase; timely manufacturing and delivery of 
critical equipment by contractors, shortages in the availability 
of such equipment or lack of shipping yards where complex 
offshore units such as FPSO and platforms are built; delays in 
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achievement of critical phases and project milestones;
	risks associated with the use of new technologies and the 

inability to develop advanced technologies to maximise the 
recoverability rate of hydrocarbons or gain access to previou-
sly inaccessible reservoirs;

	performance in project execution on the part of contractors 
who are awarded project construction activities generally ba-
sed on the EPC (Engineering, Procurement and Construction) 
contractual scheme;

	changes in operating conditions and cost overruns;
	the actual performance of the reservoir and natural field decli-

ne; and
	the ability and time necessary to build suitable transport in-

frastructures to export production to final markets.

The occurrence of any of such risks may negatively affect the 
time-to-market of the reserves and cause cost overruns and a 
delayed pay-back period, therefore adversely affecting the eco-
nomic returns of Eni’s development projects and the achieve-
ment of production growth targets.

Development projects normally have long lead times due to the 
complexity of the activities and tasks that need to be performed 
before a project final investment decision is made and commer-
cial production can be achieved. Those activities include the ap-
praisal of a discovery to evaluate the technical and economic 
feasibility of the development project, obtaining the necessary 
authorizations from governments, state agencies or national oil 
companies, signing agreements with the first party regulating 
a project’s contractual terms such as the production sharing, 
obtaining partners’ approval, environmental permits and other 
conditions, signing long-term gas contracts, carrying out the 
concept design and the front-end engineering and building and 
commissioning the related plants and facilities. All these activi-
ties normally can take years to perform. As a consequence, ra-
tes of return for such projects are exposed to the volatility of oil 
and gas prices and costs which may be substantially different 
from those estimated when the investment decision was made, 
thereby leading to lower return rates. Moreover, projects execu-
ted with partners and joint venture partners reduce the ability 
of the Company to manage risks and costs, and Eni could have 
limited influence over and control of the operations and perfor-
mance of its partners. Furthermore, Eni may not have full ope-
rational control of the joint ventures in which it participates and 
may have exposure to counterparty credit risk and disruption 
of operations and strategic objectives due to the nature of its 
relationships.

Finally, if the Company is unable to develop and operate major 
projects as planned, particularly if the Company fails to accom-
plish budgeted costs and time schedules, it could incur signi-
ficant impairment losses of capitalised costs associated with 
reduced future cash flows of those projects.

Inability to replace oil and natural gas reserves could adversely 
impact results of operations and financial condition

In case the Company’s exploration efforts are unsuccessful at 
replacing produced oil and natural gas, its reserves will decline. 
In addition to being a function of production, revisions and new 
discoveries, the Company’s reserve replacement is also affected 
by the entitlement mechanism in its production sharing agree-
ments (“PSAs”), whereby the Company is entitled to a portion of a 
field’s reserves, the sale of which is intended to cover expenditu-
res incurred by the Company to develop and operate the field. The 
higher the reference prices for Brent crude oil used to estimate 
Eni’s proved reserves, the lower the number of barrels necessary 
to recover the same amount of expenditure, and vice versa. Based 
on the current portfolio of oil and gas assets, Eni’s management 
estimates that production entitlements vary on average by ap-
proximately 330 barrels/d for each $1 change in oil prices based 
on current Eni’s assumptions for oil prices. In 2020, production 
and year-end proved reserves benefitted from lower oil prices whi-
ch translated into higher entitlements (approximately 12 kBOE/d 
of incremental production and 118 MBOE of reserves volumes). 
In case oil prices differ significantly from Eni’s own forecasts, the 
result of the above-mentioned sensitivity of production to oil price 
changes may be significantly different.

Future oil and gas production is a function of the Company’s 
ability to access new reserves through new discoveries, appli-
cation of improved techniques, success in development activi-
ty, negotiations with national oil companies and other owners 
of known reserves and acquisitions.
An inability to replace produced reserves by discovering, acqui-
ring and developing additional reserves could adversely impact 
future production levels and growth prospects. If Eni is unsuc-
cessful in meeting its long-term targets of production growth 
and reserve replacement, Eni’s future total proved reserves and 
production will decline.

Uncertainties in estimates of oil and natural gas reserves

The accuracy of proved reserve estimates and of projections 
of future rates of production and timing of development expen-
ditures depends on a number of factors, assumptions and va-
riables, including:
	the quality of available geological, technical and economic 

data and their interpretation and judgement;
	management’s assumptions regarding future rates of pro-

duction and costs and timing of operating and development 
expenditures. The projections of higher operating and de-
velopment costs may impair the ability of the Company to 
economically produce reserves leading to downward reserve 
revisions;

	changes in the prevailing tax rules, other government regula-
tions and contractual conditions;
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	results of drilling, testing and the actual production perfor-
mance of Eni’s reservoirs after the date of the estimates 
which may drive substantial upward or downward revi-
sions; and

	changes in oil and natural gas prices which could affect the 
quantities of Eni’s proved reserves since the estimates of re-
serves are based on prices and costs existing as of the date 
when these estimates are made. Lower oil prices may impair 
the ability of the Company to economically produce reserves 
leading to downward reserve revisions.

Many of the factors, assumptions and variables underlying 
the estimation of proved reserves involve management’s jud-
gement or are outside management’s control (prices, gover-
nmental regulations) and may change over time, therefore 
affecting the estimates of oil and natural gas reserves from 
year-to-year.

The prices used in calculating Eni’s estimated proved reserves 
are, in accordance with the SEC requirements, calculated by de-
termining the unweighted arithmetic average of the first day-of-
the-month commodity prices for the preceding twelve months. 
For the 12-months ending at December 31, 2020, average pri-
ces were based on 41 $/BBL for the Brent crude oil, which was 
materially lower than the reference price of 63 $/BBL utilized in 
2019 due to the effects of the pandemic-induced economic cri-
sis on demand and prices of hydrocarbons. Also, the reference 
price of natural gas was markedly lower than in 2019. Those 
reductions resulted in Eni having to remove 124 MBOE of pro-
ved reserves because they have become uneconomical in this 
price environment. 
Accordingly, the estimated reserves reported as of the end of 
2020 could be significantly different from the quantities of oil 
and natural gas that will be ultimately recovered. Any downward 
revision in Eni’s estimated quantities of proved reserves would 
indicate lower future production volumes, which could adver-
sely impact Eni’s business prospects, results of operations, 
cash flows and liquidity.

At the end of 2020 due to a combination of a slowdown in de-
velopment expenditures because of the need to preserve the 
Group liquidity during the downturn and the removal of a signi-
ficant amount of reserves that have become uneconomical in 
this environment, the Group reserves additions for the year of 
271 MBOE fell significantly short of the volume produced of 634 
MBOE, negatively affecting the replacement ratio of produced 
volumes and the total quantity of proved reserves at year-end 
compared to 2019 (down by 5%) which could negatively affect 
the Group’s growth prospects going forward.

The development of the Group’s proved undeveloped reserves 
may take longer and may require higher levels of capital expen-
ditures than it currently anticipates or the Group’s proved unde-

veloped reserves may not ultimately be developed or produced
At December 31, 2020, approximately 30% of the Group’s to-
tal estimated proved reserves (by volume) were undeveloped 
and may not be ultimately developed or produced. Recovery 
of undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expendi-
tures and successful drilling operations. The Group’s reserve 
estimates assume it can and will make these expenditures 
and conduct these operations successfully. These assump-
tions may not prove to be accurate and are subject to the 
risk of a structural decline in the prices of hydrocarbons due 
to possible long-lasting effects associated with the COVID-19 
pandemic, including acceleration towards a low carbon eco-
nomy and a shift in consumers’ behaviour and preferences. 
In case of a continued decline in the prices of hydrocarbon 
the Group may not have enough financial resources to make 
the necessary expenditures to recover undeveloped reserves. 
The Group’s reserve report at December 31, 2020 includes 
estimates of total future development and decommissioning 
costs associated with the Group’s proved total reserves of ap-
proximately €27.7 billion (undiscounted, including consolida-
ted subsidiaries and equity-accounted entities). It cannot be 
certain that estimated costs of the development of these re-
serves will prove correct, development will occur as schedu-
led, or the results of such development will be as estimated. 
In case of change in the Company’s plans to develop those 
reserves, or if it is not otherwise able to successfully develop 
these reserves as a result of the Group’s inability to fund ne-
cessary capital expenditures or otherwise, it will be required 
to remove the associated volumes from the Group’s reported 
proved reserves.

Oil and gas activity may be subject to increasingly high levels of 
income taxes and royalties

Oil and gas operations are subject to the payment of royalties 
and income taxes, which tend to be higher than those payable 
in many other commercial activities. Furthermore, in recent 
years, Eni has experienced adverse changes in the tax regi-
mes applicable to oil and gas operations in a number of Coun-
tries where the Company conducts its upstream operations. 
As a result of these trends, management estimates that the 
tax rate applicable to the Company’s oil and gas operations is 
materially higher than the Italian statutory tax rate for corpo-
rate profit, which currently stands at 24%. Management belie-
ves that the marginal tax rate in the oil and gas industry tends 
to increase in correlation with higher oil prices, which could 
make it more difficult for Eni to translate higher oil prices into 
increased net profit. However, the Company does not expect 
that the marginal tax rate will decrease in response to falling 
oil prices. Adverse changes in the tax rate applicable to the 
Group’s profit before income taxes in its oil and gas opera-
tions would have a negative impact on Eni’s future results of 
operations and cash flows.
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In the current uncertain financial and economic environment, 
governments are facing greater pressure on public finances, 
which may induce them to intervene in the fiscal framework for 
the oil and gas industry, including the risk of increased taxation, 
windfall taxes, and even nationalisations and expropriations.

The present value of future net revenues from Eni’s proved reser-
ves will not necessarily be the same as the current market value 
of Eni’s estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves 

The present value of future net revenues from Eni’s proved reser-
ves may differ from the current market value of Eni’s estimated 
crude oil and natural gas reserves. In accordance with the SEC 
rules, Eni bases the estimated discounted future net revenues 
from proved reserves on the 12-month un-weighted arithmetic 
average of the first-day-of-the-month commodity prices for the 
preceding twelve months. Actual future prices may be materially 
higher or lower than the SEC pricing used in the calculations. 
Actual future net revenues from crude oil and natural gas pro-
perties will be affected by factors such as:
	the actual prices Eni receives for sales of crude oil and na-

tural gas;
	the actual cost and timing of development and production 

expenditures;
	the timing and amount of actual production; and
	changes in governmental regulations or taxation.

The timing of both Eni’s production and its incurrence of expen-
ses in connection with the development and production of crude 
oil and natural gas properties will affect the timing and amount 
of actual future net revenues from proved reserves, and thus 
their actual present value. Additionally, the 10% discount factor 
Eni uses when calculating discounted future net revenues may 
not be the most appropriate discount factor based on interest 
rates in effect from time to time and risks associated with Eni’s 
reserves or the crude oil and natural gas industry in general. At 
December 31, 2020 the net present value of Eni’s proved reser-
ves totalled approximately €27.7 billion and was materially lower 
than at the end of 2019 because the average prices used to esti-
mate Eni’s proved reserves and the net present value at Decem-
ber 31, 2020, as calculated in accordance with the SEC rules, 
were 41 $/barrel for the Brent crude oil compared to 63 $/barrel 
utilized in 2019 due to the big fall recorded in hydrocarbons pri-
ces during the course of 2020 as a result of the demand con-
traction caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Actual future prices 
may materially differ from those used in our year-end estimates.

Oil and gas activity may be subject to increasingly high levels 
of regulations throughout the world, which may impact our ex-
traction activities and the recoverability of reserves

The production of oil and natural gas is highly regulated and 
is subject to conditions imposed by governments throughout 

the world in matters such as the award of exploration and pro-
duction leases, the imposition of specific drilling and other work 
obligations, environmental protection measures, control over 
the development and abandonment of fields and installations, 
and restrictions on production. These risks can limit the Group’s 
access to hydrocarbons reserves or may cause the Group to re-
design, curtail or cease its Oil & Gas operations with significant 
effects on the Group’s business prospects, results of operations 
and cash flow.

In Italy, the activities of hydrocarbon development and pro-
duction are performed by oil companies in accordance to con-
cessions granted by the Ministry of Economic Development 
in agreement with the relevant Region territorially involved in 
the case of onshore concessions. Concessions are granted for 
an initial twenty-year term; the concessionaire is entitled to a 
ten-year extension and then to one or more five-year extensions 
to fully recover a field’s reserves and investments on the condi-
tion that the concessionaire has fulfilled all obligations related 
to the work program agreed in the initial concession award. In 
case of delay in the award of an extension, the original conces-
sion remains fully effective until the administrative procedure 
to grant an extension is finalized. These general rules are to 
be coordinated with a new law that was enacted in February 
2019. This law requires certain Italian administrative bodies 
to adopt by the end of 2021 a plan intended to identify areas 
that are suitable for carrying out exploration, development and 
production of hydrocarbons in the national territory, including 
the territorial seawaters. Until approval of such a plan, a mo-
ratorium on exploration activities, including the award of new 
exploration leases, is in effect. Following the plan approval, 
exploration permits will resume in areas that have been identi-
fied as suitable and new exploration permits can be awarded. 
However, in unsuitable areas, exploration permits will be repea-
led, applications for obtaining new exploration permits ongoing 
at the time of the law enactment will be rejected and no new 
permit applications can be filed. As far as development and 
production concessions are concerned, pending the national 
plan approval, ongoing concessions remain in effect and ad-
ministrative procedures underway to grant extensions to expi-
red concessions remain unaffected; however, no applications 
to obtain new concessions can be filed. Once the above men-
tioned national plan is adopted, development and production 
concessions that fall in suitable areas can be granted further 
extensions and applications for new concessions can be filed; 
however, development and production concessions in place as 
at the approval of the national plan that fall in unsuitable areas 
will be repealed at their expiration, no further extensions will 
be granted, and no new concession applications can be filed 
or awarded. According to the statute, areas that are suitable to 
the activities of exploring and developing hydrocarbons must 
conform to a number of criteria including morphological cha-
racteristics and social, urbanistic and industrial constraints, 
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with particular bias for the hydrogeological balance, current 
territorial planning and with regard to marine areas for externa-
lities on the ecosystem, reviews of marine routes, fishing and 
any possible impacts on the coastline.

The Group’s largest operated development concession in Italy 
is Val d’Agri, which term expired on October 26, 2019. Deve-
lopment activities at the concession have continued since 
then in accordance with the “prorogation regime” described 
above, within the limits of the work plan approved when the 
concession was first granted. The Company filed an applica-
tion to obtain a ten-year extension of the concession in accor-
dance to the terms set by the law and before the enactment 
of the new law on the national plan for hydrocarbons activity. 
In this application the Company confirmed the same work 
program as in the original concession award. Similarly, Com-
pany operations are underway in accordance to the ongoing 
prorogation regime at another 41 expired Italian concessions 
for hydrocarbons development and production. The Com-
pany has also filed requests for extensions within the terms 
of the law for those concessions.

As far as proven reserves estimates are concerned, manage-
ment believes the criteria laid out in the new law to be high-le-
vel principles, which make it difficult to identify in a reliable and 
objective manner areas that might be suitable or unsuitable to 
hydrocarbons activities before the plan is adopted by Italian 
authorities. However, based on the review of all facts and cir-
cumstances and on the current knowledge of the matter, ma-
nagement does not expect any material impact on the Group’s 
future performance.
Eni’s future performance depends on its ability to identify and 
mitigate the above-mentioned risks and hazards which are 
inherent to its Oil & Gas business. Failure to properly manage 
those risks, the Company’s underperformance at exploration, 
development and reserve replacement activities or the occur-
rence of unforeseen regulatory risks may adversely and mate-
rially impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liqui-
dity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder 
returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for 
stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.

RISKS RELATED TO POLITICAL 
CONSIDERATIONS 

As of December 31, 2020, approximately 83% of Eni’s proved 
hydrocarbon reserves were located in non-OECD Countries, 
mainly in Africa and central-south East Asia, where the so-
cio-political framework, the financial system and the macroe-
conomic outlook are less stable than in the OECD Countries. In 
those non-OECD Countries, Eni is exposed to a wide range of 
political risks and uncertainties, which may impair Eni’s ability 
to continue operating economically on a temporary or perma-

nent basis, and Eni’s ability to access oil and gas reserves. Parti-
cularly, Eni faces risks in connection with the following potential 
issues and risks:
	socio-political instability leading to internal conflicts, revolu-

tions, establishment of non-democratic regimes, protests, 
attacks, strikes and other forms of civil disorder and unrest, 
such as strikes, riots, sabotage, acts of violence and simi-
lar events. These risks could result in disruptions to econo-
mic activity, loss of output, plant closures and shutdowns, 
project delays, loss of assets and threats to the security of 
personnel. They may disrupt financial and commercial mar-
kets, including the supply of and pricing for oil and natural 
gas, and generate greater political and economic instability 
in some of the geographical areas in which Eni operates. Ad-
ditionally, any possible reprisals because of military or other 
action, such as acts of terrorism in Europe, the United States 
or elsewhere, could have a material adverse effect on the 
world economy and hence on the global demand for hydro-
carbons;

	lack of well-established and reliable legal systems and uncer-
tainties surrounding the enforcement of contractual rights;

	unfavourable enforcement of laws, regulations and con-
tractual arrangements leading, for example, to expropriation, 
nationalisation or forced divestiture of assets and unilateral 
cancellation or modification of contractual terms;

	sovereign default or financial instability due to the fact that 
those Countries rely heavily on petroleum revenues to su-
stain public finance and petroleum revenues have dramati-
cally contracted in 2020 due plunging hydrocarbons prices 
as a consequence of the global economic crisis caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Financial difficulties at Country 
level often translate into failure by state-owned companies 
and agencies to fulfil their financial obligations towards Eni 
relating to funding capital commitments in projects operated 
by Eni or to timely paying for supplies of equity oil and gas 
volumes;

	restrictions on exploration, production, imports and exports;
	tax or royalty increases (including retroactive claims);
	difficulties in finding qualified international or local suppliers 

in critical operating environments; and
	complex processes of granting authorisations or licences af-

fecting time-to-market of certain development projects.

The financial outlook of several, non-OECD Countries where 
Eni is operating was significantly affected by the material con-
traction recorded in hydrocarbons revenues following the CO-
VID-19 pandemic, which also increased the counterparty risk 
of a few state-owned or privately-held local companies that are 
Eni’s partners in certain projects to develop Oil & Gas reserves. 

Areas where Eni operates and where the Company is particular-
ly exposed to political risk include, but are not limited to Libya, 
Venezuela and Nigeria.
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Eni’s operations in Libya are currently exposed to significant 
geopolitical risks. The current situation of social and political 
instability dates back to the revolution of 2011 that brought a 
change of regime and a civil war, triggering an uninterrupted 
period of lack of well-established institutions and recurrent epi-
sodes of internal conflict, clashes, disorders and other forms 
of civil turmoil. In the year of the revolution, Eni’s operations 
in Libya were materially affected by a full-scale war, which for-
ced the Company to shut down its development and extracti-
ve activities for almost all of 2011, with a significant negative 
impact on the Group’s results of operation and cash flow. In 
subsequent years Eni has experienced frequent disruptions to 
its operations, albeit on a smaller scale than in 2011, due to 
security threats to its installations and personnel. In April 2019, 
a resurgence of the socio-political instability and a failure by 
the opposed factions to establish a national government trig-
gered the resumption of the civil war with armed clashes in 
the area of Tripoli and elsewhere in the Country. The situation 
continued to escalate also because international negotiations 
aimed at restoring a state of peace and stability proved elusi-
ve. At the beginning of 2020 oil export terminals in the eastern 
and southern parts of Libya were blocked, halting most of the 
Country’s oil export terminals, and force majeure was decla-
red at several Libyan production facilities. Production shut-
downs also involved certain of the Company’s profit centres 
(the El Feel oilfield and the Bu Attifel offshore platform). The 
Company repatriated its personnel and strengthened security 
measures at its plants and facilities still in operation. However, 
despite this difficult framework, the Company’s largest assets 
in Libya – the Bahr Essalam offshore platform and the onsho-
re Mellitah oil and gas production centre – have continued to 
produce regularly. Due to those developments, we estimated a 
loss of output in the range of 9 kBBL/d on average for the year 
2020. In late September, the situation began to improve than-
ks to a temporary agreement between the conflicting factions, 
the blockade was lifted at the main ports for exporting crude 
oil and production resumed at the main fields, revoking force 
majeure. Despite this, management believes that Libya’s ge-
opolitical situation will continue to represent a source of risk 
and uncertainty to Eni’s operations in the Country and to the 
Group’s results of operations and cash flow. 

As of December 31, 2020, Libya represented approximately 10% 
of the Group’s total production; this percentage is forecasted 
to decrease in the medium term in line with the expected im-
plementation of the Group’s strategy intended to diversify the 
Group’s geographical presence to better balance the geopolitical 
risk of the portfolio. In the event of major adverse events, such 
as the escalation of the internal conflict into a full-blown civil war, 
attacks, sabotage, social unrest, clashes and other forms of civil 
disorder, Eni could be forced to reduce or to shut down com-
pletely its production activities at its Libyan fields, which would 
significantly hit results of operations and cash flow.

Venezuela is currently experiencing a situation of financial 
stress, which has been exacerbated by the economic recession 
caused by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Lack of fi-
nancial resources to support the development of the Country’s 
hydrocarbons reserves has negatively affected the Country’s 
production levels and hence fiscal revenues. The situation has 
been made worse by certain international sanctions targeting 
the Country’s financial system and its ability to export crude 
oil to U.S. markets, which is the main outlet of Venezuelan pro-
duction (see also “Sanctions targets” below).

Presently, the Company retains only one valuable asset in Ve-
nezuela: the 50%-participated Cardón IV joint venture, which is 
operating a natural gas offshore project and is supplying its pro-
duction to the national oil company, PDVSA, under a long-term 
supply agreement. We also hold an equity interest in other two 
oil projects: the PetroJunin oilfield and the Corocoro field, with 
respect to which in past years we have registered significant 
impairment losses and reserves de-bookings, with currently litt-
le value left to recover. The main risk to Eni’s ability to recover its 
investment is the continued difficulty on the part of PDVSA to 
pay the receivables for the gas supplies of Cardón IV, resulting 
in a significant amount of overdue receivables. The joint-ventu-
re is systematically booking a loss provision on the revenues 
accrued. The expected credit loss was based on management’s 
appreciation of the counterparty risk driven by the findings of a 
review of the past experience of sovereign defaults on which 
basis a deferral in the collection of the gas revenues was esti-
mated. As of December 31, 2020, Eni’s invested capital in Vene-
zuela was approximately $1 billion. Despite the negative finan-
cial outlook of the Country and of PDVSA, during the course of 
2020 the Company was able to collect a certain percentage of 
accrued revenues, in line with management’s estimates of the 
expected credit losses. Eni expects the financial and political 
outlook of the Country to remain a risk factor to Eni’s operations 
there for the foreseeable future.

We have significant credit exposure in Nigeria to state-owned 
and privately-held local companies, where the overall financial 
and economic outlook of the Country has been made worse 
by the contraction of petroleum revenues due to the crisis of 
the oil sector in 2020 caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our 
credit exposure is due to the fact that we are funding the share 
of capital expenditures pertaining to Nigerian joint operators at 
Eni-operated oil projects. We have incurred in the past and it 
is possible to continue incurring in the future significant credit 
losses because of the ongoing difficulties of our Nigerian coun-
terparts to reimburse amounts past due. 

Eni is closely monitoring political, social and economic risks of 
the Countries in which it has invested or intends to invest, in 
order to evaluate the economic and financial return of capital 
projects and to selectively evaluate projects. While the occur-
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rence of these events is unpredictable, the occurrence of any 
such risks may adversely and materially impact the Group’s re-
sults of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, fi-
nancial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, 
the amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the 
price of Eni’s shares.

Finally, the United Kingdom left the European Union at the end 
of January 2020. Due to this decision, it is possible that in the 
future we may experience delays in moving our products and 
employees between the UK and EU.  Also, additional tariffs and 
taxes could impact the demand for some of our products and 
this, combined with the weak macroeconomic conditions in 
both the EU and UK due to the COVID-19 pandemic, could have 
a material adverse effect on energy demand.

Sanction targets

The most relevant sanction programs for Eni are those issued 
by the European Union and the United States of America and in 
particular, as of today, the restrictive measures adopted by such 
authorities in respect of Russia and Venezuela.

In response to the Russia-Ukraine crisis, the European Union 
and the United States have enacted sanctions targeting, in-
ter alia, the financial and energy sectors in Russia by restri-
cting the supply of certain oil and gas items and services to 
Russia and certain forms of financing. Eni has adapted its 
activities to the applicable sanctions and will further adapt its 
business to any subsequent restrictive measures that shall 
be adopted by the relevant authorities. In response to these 
restrictions, the Company has put on hold its projects in the 
upstream sectors in Russia and currently is not engaged in 
any Oil & Gas project in the Country. It is not possible to rule 
out the possibility that wider sanctions targeting the Russian 
energy, banking and/or finance industries may be implemen-
ted. Further sanctions imposed on Russia, Russian citizens 
or Russian companies by the international community, such 
as restrictions on purchases of Russian gas by European 
companies or measures restricting dealings with Russian 
counterparties, could adversely impact Eni’s business, results 
of operations and cash flow. Furthermore, an escalation of 
the international crisis, resulting in a tightening of sanctions, 
could entail a significant disruption of energy supply and tra-
de flows globally, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business, financial conditions, results of ope-
rations and prospects. 

Starting from 2017, the United States enacted a regime of eco-
nomic and financial sanctions against Venezuela. The scope of 
the restrictions, initially targeting certain financial instruments 
issued or sold by the Government of Venezuela, was gradually 
expanded over 2017 and 2018 and then significantly broade-

ned during the course of 2019 when Petroleos de Venezuela 
SA (“PDVSA”), the main national state-owned enterprise, has 
been added to the “Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked 
Persons List” and the Venezuelan governments and its control-
led entities became subject to assets freeze in the United Sta-
tes. Even if such U.S. sanctions are substantially “primary” and 
therefore dedicated in principle to U.S. persons only, retaliatory 
measures and other adverse consequences may also interest 
foreign entities which operate with Venezuelan listed entities 
and/or in the oil sector of the Country. 

The U.S. sanction regime against Venezuela has been fur-
ther tightened in the final part of 2020 by restricting any 
Venezuelan oil exports, including swap schemes utilized by 
foreign entities to recover trade and financing receivables 
from PDVSA and other Venezuelan counterparties. This lat-
ter tightening of the sanction regime could jeopardize our 
ability to collect the trade receivable owed to us for our acti-
vity in the Country.

Eni is carefully evaluating on a case by case basis the adop-
tion of measures adequate to minimize its exposure to any 
sanctions risk which may affect its business operation. In any 
case, the U.S. sanctions add stress to the already complex fi-
nancial, political and operating outlook of the country, which 
could further limit the ability of Eni to recover its investments 
in Venezuela.

RISKS SPECIFIC TO THE COMPANY’S 
GAS BUSINESS IN ITALY

Current, negative trends in gas demands and supplies in Europe 
may impair the Company’s ability to fulfil its minimum off-take 
obligations in connection with its take-or-pay, long-term gas sup-
ply contracts

Eni is currently party to a few long-term gas supply contracts 
with state-owned companies of key producing Countries, 
from where most of the gas supplies directed to Europe are 
sourced via pipeline (Russia, Algeria, Libya and Norway). The-
se contracts which were intended to support Eni’s sales plan 
in Italy and in other European markets, provide take-or-pay 
clauses whereby the Company has an obligation to lift mini-
mum, pre-set volumes of gas in each year of the contractual 
term or, in case of failure, to pay the whole price, or a fraction 
of that price, up to a minimum contractual quantity. Similar 
considerations apply to ship-or-pay contractual obligations 
which arise from contracts with pipeline owners, which the 
Company has entered into to secure long-term transport ca-
pacity. Long-term gas supply contracts with take-or-pay clau-
ses expose the Company to a volume risk, as the Company 
is obligated to purchase an annual minimum volume of gas, 
or in case of failure, to pay the underlying price. The structure 
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of the Company’s portfolio of gas supply contracts is a risk 
to the profitability outlook of Eni’s wholesale gas business 
due to the current competitive dynamics in the European gas 
markets. In past downturns of the gas sector, the Company 
incurred significant cash outflows in response to its take-or-
pay obligations. Furthermore, the Company’s wholesale busi-
ness is exposed to volatile  spreads between the procurement 
costs of gas, which are linked to spot prices at European 
hubs or to the price of crude oil, and the selling prices of gas 
which are mainly indexed to spot prices at the Italian hub. A 
reduction of the spreads between Italian and European spot 
prices for gas could negatively affect the profitability of our 
business by reducing the total addressable market and by re-
ducing the margin to cover the business’s logistics costs and 
other fixed expenses. 

Eni’s management is planning to continue its strategy of re-
negotiating the Company’s long-term gas supply contracts in 
order to constantly align pricing terms to current market con-
ditions as they evolve and to obtain greater operational flexibi-
lity to better manage the take-or-pay obligations (volumes and 
delivery points among others), considering the risk factors de-
scribed above. The revision clauses included in these contracts 
state the right of each counterparty to renegotiate the econo-
mic terms and other contractual conditions periodically, in re-
lation to ongoing changes in the gas scenario. Management 
believes that the outcome of those renegotiations is uncertain 
in respect of both the amount of the economic benefits that will 
be ultimately obtained and the timing of recognition of profit. 
Furthermore, in case Eni and the gas suppliers fail to agree on 
revised contractual terms, both parties can start an arbitration 
procedure to obtain revised contractual conditions. All these 
possible developments within the renegotiation process could 
increase the level of risks and uncertainties relating the outco-
me of those renegotiations.

Risks associated with the regulatory powers entrusted to the 
Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Envi-
ronment in the matter of pricing to residential customers
Eni’s wholesale gas and retail Gas & Power businesses are 
subject to regulatory risks mainly in our domestic market in 
Italy. The Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks 
and Environment (the “Authority”) is entrusted with certain 
powers in the matter of natural gas and power pricing. Spe-
cifically, the Authority retains a surveillance power on pricing 
in the natural gas market in Italy and the power to establish 
selling tariffs for the supply of natural gas to residential and 
commercial users until the market is fully opened. Develop-
ments in the regulatory framework intended to increase the 
level of market liquidity or of de-regulation or intended to re-
duce operators’ ability to transfer to customers cost increa-
ses in raw materials may negatively affect future sales mar-
gins of gas and electricity, operating results and cash flow.

RISKS RELATED TO ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH 
AND SAFETY REGULATIONS AND LEGAL RISKS

Eni has incurred in the past, and will continue incurring, mate-
rial operating expenses and expenditures, and is exposed to 
business risk in relation to compliance with applicable environ-
mental, health and safety regulations in future years, including 
compliance with any national or international regulation on GHG 
emissions

Eni is subject to numerous European Union, international, na-
tional, regional and local laws and regulations regarding the 
impact of its operations on the environment and on health and 
safety of employees, contractors, communities and on the va-
lue of properties. We believe that laws and regulations inten-
ded to preserve the environment and to safeguard health and 
safety of workers and communities are particularly severe in 
our businesses due to their inherent nature because of flamma-
bility and toxicity of hydrocarbons and of industrial processes 
to develop, extract, refine and transport oil, gas and products. 
Generally, these laws and regulations require acquisition of a 
permit before drilling for hydrocarbons may commence, restrict 
the types, quantities and concentration of various substances 
that can be released into the environment in connection with 
exploration, drilling and production activities, including refinery 
and petrochemical plant operations, limit or prohibit drilling acti-
vities in certain protected areas, require to remove and dismant-
le drilling platforms and other equipment and well plug-in once 
oil and gas operations have terminated, provide for measures 
to be taken to protect the safety of the workplace and of plants 
and infrastructures, the health of employees, contractors and 
other Company collaborators and of communities involved by 
the Company’s activities, and impose criminal or civil liabilities 
for polluting the environment or harming employees’ or com-
munities’ health and safety as result from the Group’s opera-
tions. These laws and regulations control the emission of scrap 
substances and pollutants, discipline the handling of hazardous 
materials and set limits to or prohibit the discharge of soil, wa-
ter or groundwater contaminants, emissions of toxic gases and 
other air pollutants or can impose taxes on polluting air emis-
sions, as in the case of the European Trading Scheme that re-
quires the payment of a tax for each tonne of carbon dioxide 
emitted in the environment above a pre-set allowance, resulting 
from the operation of oil and natural gas extraction and proces-
sing plants, petrochemical plants, refineries, service stations, 
vessels, oil carriers, pipeline systems and other facilities owned 
or operated by Eni. In addition, Eni’s operations are subject to 
laws and regulations relating to the production, handling, tran-
sportation, storage, disposal and treatment of waste. Breaches 
of environmental, health and safety laws and regulations as in 
the case of negligent or wilful release of pollutants and con-
taminants into the atmosphere, the soil, water or groundwater 
or exceeding the concentration thresholds of contaminants set 
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by the law expose the Company to the incurrence of liabilities 
associated with compensation for environmental, health or sa-
fety damage and expenses for environmental remediation and 
clean-up. Furthermore, in the case of violation of certain rules 
regarding the safeguard of the environment and the health of 
employees, contractors and other collaborators of the Com-
pany, and of communities, the Company may incur liabilities in 
connection with the negligent or wilful violation of laws by its 
employees as per Italian Law Decree No. 231/2001.

Environmental, health and safety laws and regulations have a 
substantial impact on Eni’s operations. Management expects 
that the Group will continue to incur significant amounts of ope-
rating expenses and expenditures in the foreseeable future to 
comply with laws and regulations and to safeguard the environ-
ment and the health and safety of employees, contractors and 
communities involved by the Company operations, including:
	costs to prevent, control, eliminate or reduce certain types 

of air and water emissions and handle waste and other ha-
zardous materials, including the costs incurred in connection 
with government action to address climate change (see the 
specific section below on climate-related risks);

	remedial and clean-up measures related to environmental 
contamination or accidents at various sites, including those 
owned by third parties (see discussion below);

	damage compensation claimed by individuals and entities, 
including local, regional or state administrations, should Eni 
cause any kind of accident, oil spill, well blowouts, pollution, 
contamination, emission of GHG and other air pollutants abo-
ve permitted levels or of any other hazardous gases, water, 
ground or air contaminants or pollutants, as a result of its 
operations or if the Company is found guilty of violating envi-
ronmental laws and regulations; and

	costs in connection with the decommissioning and removal 
of drilling platforms and other facilities, and well plugging at 
the end of Oil & Gas field production.

As a further consequence of any new laws and regulations 
or other factors, like the actual or alleged occurrence of envi-
ronmental damage at Eni’s plants and facilities, the Company 
may be forced to curtail, modify or cease certain operations or 
implement temporary shutdowns of facilities. For example, in 
Italy Eni has experienced in recent years a number of temporary 
plant shutdowns at our Val d’Agri oil treatment centre due to en-
vironmental issues and oil spillovers, causing loss of output and 
of revenues. The Italian judicial authorities have started legal 
proceedings to verify alleged environmental crimes or crimes 
against the public safety and other criminal allegations as de-
scribed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

If any of the risks set out above materialise, they could adver-
sely impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liqui-
dity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder 

returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for 
stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.

CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS

The civil society and the national governments adhering to the 
2015 COP 21 Paris Agreement are stepping up efforts to reduce 
the risks of climate change and to support an ongoing transition 
to a low carbon economy, which will likely lead to the adoption of 
national and international laws and regulations intended to curb 
carbon emissions, as well as to the implementation of fiscal me-
asures which could possibly drive technological breakthrough in 
the use of hydrogen, exponential growth in the development of 
renewables energies and fast-growing adoption of electric vehi-
cles, thus reducing the world’s economy reliance on fossil fuels. 
These trends could materially affect demand for hydrocarbons 
in the long-term, while we expect increased compliance costs 
for the Company in the short-term. Eni is also exposed to risks 
of unpredictable extreme meteorological events linked to climate 
change. All these developments may adversely and materially af-
fect the Group’s profitability, businesses outlook and reputation

The civil society and the national governments adhering to the 
2015 COP 21 Paris Agreement, with the EU playing a leading 
role, are advancing plans and initiatives intended to transition 
the economy towards a low carbon model in the long run, as 
the scientific community has been sounding alarms over the 
potential, catastrophic consequences for human life on the pla-
net in connection with risks of climate change, based on the 
scientific relationship between global warming and increasing 
GHG concentration in the atmosphere, mainly as a result of 
burning fossil fuels. This push, as well as increasingly stricter 
regulations in this area, could adversely and materially affect 
the Group’s business. 

Those risks may emerge in the short and medium-term, as well 
as over the long term. 

Eni expects that the achievement of the Paris Agreement goal 
of limiting the rise in temperature to well below 2° C above 
pre-industrial levels, or the more stringent goal advocated by 
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) of li-
miting global warming to 1.5° C, will strengthen the global re-
sponse to the issue of climate change and spur governments 
to introduce measures and policies targeting the reduction of 
GHG emissions, which are expected to bring about a gradual 
reduction in the use of fossil fuels over the medium to long-
term, notably through the diversification of the energy mix, likely 
reducing local demand for fossil fuels and negatively affecting 
global demand for oil and natural gas. 

Recently, governmental institutions have responded to the issue 
of climate change on two fronts: on the one side, governmen-
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ts can both impose taxes on GHG emissions and incentivise a 
progressive shift in the energy mix away from fossil fuels, for 
example, by subsidising the power generation from renewable 
sources; on the other side they can promote worldwide agree-
ments to reduce the consumption of hydrocarbons. This trend 
has been progressively gaining traction with an increasing num-
ber of governments adopting national agendas and strategies 
intended to reach the goals of the Paris Agreement and formal-
ly pledging to obtain net-zero emissions by 2050, like the  EU’s 
Green Deal, which may lead to the enactment of various measu-
re to constrain, limit or prohibit altogether the use of fossil fuels. 
This trend could increase both in breadth and severity if more 
governments follow suit.

The dramatic fallout of the COVID-19 pandemic on economic 
activity and people’s lifestyle could possibly result in a brea-
kthrough in the evolution towards a low carbon model of deve-
lopment. The unprecedented contraction in economic activity 
caused by the lockdown measures adopted throughout the 
world to contain the spread of the virus, which resulted in the 
suppression of demand for hydrocarbons, could have an en-
during impact on the future role of hydrocarbons in satisfying 
global energy needs. This is because many governments and 
the EU have deployed massive amounts of resources to help 
rebuild entire economies and industrial sectors hit by the pan-
demic-induced crisis and a large part of this economic stimulus 
has been or is planned to be directed to help transitioning the 
economy and the energy mix towards a low carbon model, as 
in the case of the EU’s recovery fund, which provides for huge 
investments in the sector of renewable energies and the green 
economy, including large-scale adoption of hydrogen as a new 
energy source. At the same time, the auto industry is ramping 
up production of electric vehicles (EVs) and boosting the EVs 
line-up, while large amounts of risk capital and financing is pro-
pelling the growth of an entire new industry of pure-EV players. 
The growing role of EVs in transportation is leveraging on state 
subsidies to incentivize the purchase of EVs and growing inte-
rest among consumers towards EVs. Other potentially disrup-
tive technologies designated to produce energy without fossil 
fuels and to replace the combustion engine in the transport sec-
tor are emerging, driven by the development of hydrogen-based 
innovations. These trends could disrupt demand for hydrocar-
bons in the not so distant future, with many forecasters, both 
within the industry, or state agencies and independent obser-
vers predicting peak oil demand sometimes in the next ten ye-
ars or earlier; some operators still consider 2019 as the peak 
year for oil demand. A large portion of Eni’s business depends 
on the global demand for oil and natural gas. If existing or future 
laws, regulations, treaties, or international agreements related 
to GHG and climate change, including state incentives to con-
serve energy or use alternative energy sources, technological 
breakthrough in the field of renewable energies or mass-adop-

tion of electric vehicles trigger a structural decline in worldwide 
demand for oil and natural gas, our results of operations and 
business prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

We expect our operating and compliance expenses to increase 
in the short-term due to the likely growing adoption of carbon 
tax mechanisms. Some governments have already introduced 
carbon pricing schemes, which can be an effective measure 
to reduce GHG emissions at the lowest overall cost to society. 
Today, about half of the direct GHG emissions coming from 
Eni’s operated assets are included in national or supranational 
Carbon Pricing Mechanisms, such as the European Emission 
Trading Scheme (ETS), as a result of which the Company in-
curs operating expenses. For example, under the European 
ETS, Eni is obligated to purchase, on the open markets, emis-
sion allowances in case its GHG emissions exceed a pre-set 
amount of free emission allowances. In 2020 to comply with 
this carbon emissions scheme, Eni purchased on the open 
market allowances corresponding to 10.5 million tonnes of 
CO2 emissions. Due to the likelihood of new regulations in this 
area and expectations of a reduction in free allowances under 
the European ETS and of the adoption of similar schemes by 
a rising number of governments, Eni is aware of the risk that a 
growing share of the Group’s GHG emissions could be subject 
to carbon-pricing and other forms of climate regulation in the 
not so distant future, leading to additional compliance obliga-
tions with respect to the release, capture, and use of carbon 
dioxide that could result in increased investments and higher 
project costs for Eni. Eni also expects that governments will 
require companies to apply technical measures to reduce their 
GHG emissions.

Our portfolio of oil and gas properties features a large weight of 
natural gas, the least GHG-emitting fossil energy source, which 
represented approximately 48% of Eni’s production in 2020 on 
an available-for-sale basis; as of December 31, 2020, gas reser-
ves represented approximately 49% of Eni’s total proved reser-
ves of its subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures. The other 
pillar of our resilient portfolio of Oil & Gas properties is the high 
incidence of conventional projects, developed through phases 
and with low CO2 intensity. We estimate that Oil & Gas projects 
under execution, which will drive the expected production incre-
ase in the next four-year period and attract a large part of the 
projected development expenditures in the same period, have a 
price breakeven of around 23 $/bbl. We believe that those cha-
racteristics of our portfolio coupled with a relatively low pay-
back period will mitigate the risk of stranded reserves going 
forward, should risks of structurally declining hydrocarbons 
demands materialize because of stricter global environmental 
constraints and regulations and changing consumers’ preferen-
ces resulting in trends like the mass adoption of electric vehi-
cles or a lower weight of hydrocarbons in the energy mix. 
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Eni’s portfolio exposure to those risks is reviewed annually 
against changing GHG regulatory regimes, evolving consu-
mers’ habits, technological developments and physical con-
ditions to identify emerging risks. To test the resilience of new 
capital projects, Eni assesses potential costs associated with 
GHG emissions and their impact on projects’ returns. New 
projects’ internal rates of return are stress-tested against 
two sets of assumptions: i) Eni’s management estimation of 
a cost per ton of carbon dioxide (CO2), which is applied to 
the total GHG emissions of each capital project along its life 
cycle, while retaining the management scenario for hydrocar-
bons prices; and ii) the hydrocarbon prices and cost of CO2 
emissions adopted in the International Energy Agency (IEA) 
Sustainable Development Scenario “IEA SDS” WEO 2020. 
This stress test is performed on a regular basis to monitor 
progress and risks associated with each project. The review 
performed at the end of 2020 indicated that the internal rates 
of return of Eni’s ongoing projects in aggregate should not be 
substantially affected by a carbon pricing mechanism, also 
under the assumption that the costs for emission allowances 
are not recoverable in the cost oil or are not deductible from 
profit before taxes. This observation holds true also under the 
more severe CO2 pricing assumptions of the IEA SDS scena-
rio. The development process and internal authorization pro-
cedures of each E&P capital project feature several checks 
that may require additional and well detailed GHG and energy 
management plans to address potential risks of underperfor-
mance in relation to possible scenarios of global or regional 
adoption of regulations introducing mechanisms of carbon 
cap and trade or carbon pricing. These processes and inter-
nal authorization hurdles can lead to projects being stopped, 
designs being changed, and potential GHG mitigation invest-
ments being identified, in preparation for when the economic 
conditions imposed by new regulations would make these 
investments commercially compelling.

Furthermore, management performed a sensitivity analysis 
of the recoverability of the book values of the Company’s Oil 
& Gas assets under the assumptions set forth in the IEA SDS 
WEO 2020 to evaluate the reasonableness of the outcome of 
impairment review of those assets under the base case mana-
gement scenario as well as possible risks of stranded assets. 
This stress test covered all the Oil & Gas cash generating unit 
(CGUs) that are regularly tested for impairment in accordance 
to IAS 36. The IEA SDS sets out an energy pathway consistent 
with the goal of achieving universal energy access by 2030 and 
of reducing energy-related CO2 emissions and air pollution in 
line with the goals of the Paris Agreement which endorse ef-
fective action to combat climate change by holding the rise in 
global average temperature to well below 2°C with respect to 
the baseline before the Industrial Revolution and to pursuing 
efforts to limit it to 1.5°C. 

The hydrocarbons pricing assumptions of the IEA SDS scenario 
are substantially aligned to the ones adopted by Eni in its base 
case impairment review made in accordance with IAS 36. CO2 
emissions costs under the IEA SDS show a strong uptrend con-
sistent with the goal of encouraging the adoption of low carbon 
technologies. The IEA SDS projects CO2 emissions costs in ad-
vanced economies to reach 140 $ per ton in real terms 2019 by 
2040, which is higher than Eni’s CO2 pricing trends and assump-
tions for the medium-long term. The sensitivity test performed 
at Eni’s Oil & Gas CGUs under the IEA SDS assumptions and 
applying the CO2 cost estimated by the IEA for advanced eco-
nomies to all of our oil and gas assets validated the resiliency 
of Eni’s asset portfolio, determining a reduction of 11% in the 
total value-in-use of all of Eni’s Oil & Gas CGUs compared to the 
result of the impairment review performed by the Company in 
the preparation of its 2020 financial statements using the ma-
nagement’s base case scenario. That reduction falls to a 5% 
decline assuming the recoverability of CO2 costs in the cost oil 
or the deductibility from the taxable income. 

Finally, management considered the following trends in the sec-
tor: the increased volatility of crude oil prices which have been 
increasingly exposed to macro and global risks; the continued 
oversupply in the oil markets which has determined a reset in 
hydrocarbons realized prices and cash flows of oil companies; 
growing uncertainty about long-term evolution of global oil de-
mand in light of the rising commitment on the part of the inter-
national community at addressing climate change and spee-
ding up the pace of the energy transition, the increase in energy 
alternatives to fossil fuels and changing consumer preferences, 
management has evaluated the recoverability of the book va-
lues of Eni’s Oil & Gas properties under different stress-test sce-
narios, including the risk of stranded assets. Particularly, under 
the more conservative set of the assumptions which envisages 
a flat long-term Brent price of 50 $/bbl and at a flat Italian gas 
price of 5 $/mmBTU, management is estimating that approxi-
mately 81% of the volumes of the Company’s proven and un-
proven reserves (latter being properly risked) will be produced 
within 2035 and 93% of their net present value will be realized. 
The net present value of those production volumes, valued at 
the most conservative of the scenarios evaluated, is substan-
tially aligned with the book values of the net fixed assets of Eni’s 
Oil & Gas properties, including Eni’s share of the fixed assets of 
our joint ventures like Vår Energi AS, and including in the calcu-
lation the expected cash outflows committed to the Company’s 
forestry projects.

In October 2018 the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC) stated that to reduce risks of irreversible chan-
ges to the ecosystem the world economy needs to limit the 
increase in global temperatures to 1.5°C. To meet this chal-
lenge, the world economy would need to undertake in the next 
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decades a deeper and more complex transformation, both in 
term of size and speed, than the one foreseen in the Paris 
Agreement. Recognizing the IPCC position, the IEA has ela-
borated in its WEO 2020 a new detailed modelling called the 
Net Zero Emissions 2050 case (NZE2050) to examine what 
more would be needed compared to the SDS in next decade 
to put global CO2 emissions on a pathway to net zero by 2050. 
The set of actions contemplated by the IEA NZE2050 case 
comprise a dramatic increase in investments in low-emission 
electricity, infrastructure and innovation as well as deman-
ding behavioral changes on part of the consumers. Currently, 
this scenario like the one outlined by the IPCC have yet to 
be complemented by a full set of pricing and other operating 
assumptions, which once available will be analyzed by the 
Company for the purpose of updating stress-testing models 
and methodologies.

The scientific community has concluded that increasing glo-
bal average temperature produces significant physical effects, 
such as the increased frequency and severity of hurricanes, 
storms, droughts, floods or other extreme climatic events that 
could interfere with Eni’s operations and damage Eni’s facilities. 
Extreme and unpredictable weather phenomena can result in 
material disruption to Eni’s operations, and consequent loss 
of or damage to properties and facilities, as well as a loss of 
output, loss of revenues, increasing maintenance and repair 
expenses and cash flow shortfall.

Finally, there is a reputational risk linked to the fact that oil 
companies are increasingly perceived by institutions and 
the general public as entities primarily responsible for global 
warming due to GHG emissions across the hydrocarbons va-
lue-chain, particularly related with the use of energy products. 
This could possibly make Eni’s shares less attractive to in-
vestment funds and individual investors who have been more 
and more assessing the risk profile of companies against 
their carbon footprint when making investment decisions. 
Furthermore, a growing number of financing institutions, in-
cluding insurance companies, appear to be considering limi-
ting their exposure to fossil fuel projects, as witnessed by a 
pledge from the World Bank to stop financing upstream oil 
and gas projects and a proposal from the EU finance mini-
ster to reduce the financing granted to Oil & Gas projects via 
the European Investment Bank (EIB). This trend could have a 
material adverse effect on the price of our securities and our 
ability to access equity or other capital markets. Accordingly, 
our ability to obtain financing for future projects or to obtain 
it at competitive rates may be adversely impacted. Further, 
in some Countries, governments and regulators have filed 
lawsuits seeking to hold fossil fuel companies, including Eni, 
liable for costs associated with climate change. Losing any 
of these lawsuits could have a material adverse effect on our 
business prospects.

As a result of these trends, climate-related risks could have a 
material and adverse effect the Group’s results of operations, 
cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, financial condition, and 
shareholder returns, including dividends, the amount of funds 
available for stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.

Eni is exposed to the risk of material environmental liabilities 
in addition to the provisions already accrued in the consolida-
ted financial statement
Eni has incurred in the past and may incur in the future material 
environmental liabilities in connection with the environmental 
impact of its past and present industrial activities. Eni is also 
exposed to claims under environmental requirements and, from 
time to time, such claims have been made against us. Further-
more, environmental regulations in Italy and elsewhere typically 
impose strict liability. Strict liability means that in some situa-
tions Eni could be exposed to liability for clean-up and reme-
diation costs, environmental damage, and other damages as a 
result of Eni’s conduct of operations that was lawful at the time 
it occurred or of the conduct of prior operators or other third 
parties. In addition, plaintiffs may seek to obtain compensation 
for damage resulting from events of contamination and pollu-
tion or in case the Company is found liable of violations of any 
environmental laws or regulations. In Italy, Eni is exposed to the 
risk of expenses and environmental liabilities in connection with 
the impact of its past activities at certain industrial hubs whe-
re the Group’s products were produced, processed, stored, di-
stributed or sold, such as chemical plants, mineral-metallurgic 
plants, refineries and other facilities, which were subsequently 
disposed of, liquidated, closed or shut down. At these industrial 
hubs, Eni has undertaken several initiatives to remediate and 
to clean-up proprietary or concession areas that were allegedly 
contaminated and polluted by the Group’s industrial activities. 
State or local public administrations have sued Eni for environ-
mental and other damages and for clean-up and remediation 
measures in addition to those which were performed by the 
Company, or which the Company has committed to perform. 
In some cases, Eni has been sued for alleged breach of crimi-
nal laws (for example for alleged environmental crimes such as 
failure to perform soil or groundwater reclamation, environmen-
tal disaster and contamination, discharge of toxic materials, 
amongst others). Although Eni believes that it may not be held 
liable for having exceeded in the past pollution thresholds that 
are unlawful according to current regulations but were allowed 
by laws then effective, or because the Group took over opera-
tions from third parties, it cannot be excluded that Eni could 
potentially incur such environmental liabilities. Eni’s financial 
statements account for provisions relating to the costs to be 
incurred with respect to clean-ups and remediation of contami-
nated areas and groundwater for which a legal or constructive 
obligations exist and the associated costs can be reasonably 
estimated in a reliable manner, regardless of any previous liabili-
ty attributable to other parties. The accrued amounts represent 
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management’s best estimates of the Company’s existing liabi-
lities. Management believes that it is possible that in the future 
Eni may incur significant or material environmental expenses 
and liabilities in addition to the amounts already accrued due 
to: (i) the likelihood of as yet unknown contamination; (ii) the 
results of ongoing surveys or surveys to be carried out on the 
environmental status of certain Eni’s industrial sites as required 
by the applicable regulations on contaminated sites; (iii) unfa-
vourable developments in ongoing litigation on the environmen-
tal status of certain of the Company’s sites where a number of 
public administrations, the Italian Ministry of the Environment 
or third parties are claiming compensation for environmental 
or other damages such as damages to people’s health and loss 
of property value; (iv) the possibility that new litigation might 
arise; (v) the probability that new and stricter environmental 
laws might be implemented; and (vi) the circumstance that the 
extent and cost of environmental restoration and remediation 
programs are often inherently difficult to estimate leading to 
underestimation of the future costs of remediation and resto-
ration, as well as unforeseen adverse developments both in 
the final remediation costs and with respect to the final liability 
allocation among the various parties involved at the sites. As 
a result of these risks, environmental liabilities could be sub-
stantial and could have a material adverse effect the Group’s 
results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business prospects, fi-
nancial condition, and shareholder returns, including dividends, 
the amount of funds available for stock repurchases and the 
price of Eni’s shares.

RISKS RELATED TO LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
AND COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-CORRUPTION 
LEGISLATION

Eni is the defendant in a number of civil and criminal actions 
and administrative proceedings. In future years Eni may incur 
significant losses due to: (i) uncertainty regarding the final 
outcome of each proceeding; (ii) the occurrence of new deve-
lopments that management could not take into consideration 
when evaluating the likely outcome of each proceeding in order 
to accrue the risk provisions as of the date of the latest finan-
cial statements or to judge a negative outcome only as possible 
or to conclude that a contingency loss could not be estimated 
reliably; (iii) the emergence of new evidence and information; 
and (iv) underestimation of probable future losses due to circu-
mstances that are often inherently difficult to estimate. Certain 
legal proceedings and investigations in which Eni or its subsi-
diaries or its officers and employees are defendants involve the 
alleged breach of anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws and re-
gulations and other ethical misconduct. Such proceedings are 
described in the notes to the condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements, under the heading “Legal Proceedings”. 
Ethical misconduct and noncompliance with applicable laws 
and regulations, including noncompliance with anti-bribery 

and anti-corruption laws, by Eni, its officers and employees, its 
partners, agents or others that act on the Group’s behalf, could 
expose Eni and its employees to criminal and civil penalties and 
could be damaging to Eni’s reputation and shareholder value.

INTERNAL CONTROL RISKS

Risks from acquisitions
Eni is constantly monitoring the oil and gas market in search of 
opportunities to acquire individual assets or companies with a 
view of achieving its growth targets or complementing its asset 
portfolio. Acquisitions entail an execution risk – the risk that the 
acquirer will not be able to effectively integrate the purchased 
assets so as to achieve expected synergies. In addition, acquisi-
tions entail a financial risk – the risk of not being able to recover 
the purchase costs of acquired assets, in case a prolonged de-
cline in the market prices of oil and natural gas occurs. Eni may 
also incur unanticipated costs or assume unexpected liabilities 
and losses in connection with companies or assets it acqui-
res. If the integration and financial risks related to acquisitions 
materialise, expected synergies from acquisition may fall short 
of management’s targets and Eni’s financial performance and 
shareholders’ returns may be adversely affected.

Eni’s crisis management systems may be ineffective 
Eni has developed contingency plans to continue or recover 
operations following a disruption or incident. An inability to re-
store or replace critical capacity to an agreed level within an 
agreed period could prolong the impact of any disruption and 
could severely affect business, operations and financial resul-
ts. Eni has crisis management plans and the capability to deal 
with emergencies at every level of its operations. If Eni does not 
respond or is not seen to respond in an appropriate manner to 
either an external or internal crisis, this could adversely impact 
the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, business 
prospects, financial condition, and shareholder returns, inclu-
ding dividends, the amount of funds available for stock repur-
chases and the price of Eni’s shares.

Disruption to or breaches of Eni’s critical IT services or digital 
infrastructure and security systems could adversely affect the 
Group’s business, increase costs and damage our reputation
The Group’s activities depend heavily on the reliability and se-
curity of its information technology (IT) systems and digital 
security. The Group’s IT systems, some of which are mana-
ged by third parties, are susceptible to being compromised, 
damaged, disrupted or shutdown due to failures during the 
process of upgrading or replacing software, databases or 
components, power or network outages, hardware failures, 
cyber-attacks (viruses, computer intrusions), user errors or 
natural disasters. The cyber threat is constantly evolving. 
The oil and gas industry is subject to fast-evolving risks from 
cyber threat actors, including nation states, criminals, terro-
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rists, hacktivists and insiders. Attacks are becoming more 
sophisticated with regularly renewed techniques while the 
digital transformation amplifies exposure to these cyber thre-
ats. The adoption of new technologies, such as the Internet 
of Things (IoT) or the migration to the cloud, as well as the 
evolution of architectures for increasingly interconnected sy-
stems, are all areas where cyber security is a very important 
issue. The Group and its service providers may not be able 
to prevent third parties from breaking into the Group’s IT sy-
stems, disrupting business operations or communications 
infrastructure through denial-of-service attacks, or gaining 
access to confidential or sensitive information held in the sy-
stem. The Group, like many companies, has been and expects 
to continue to be the target of attempted cybersecurity at-
tacks. While the Group has not experienced any such attack 
that has had a material impact on its business, the Group 
cannot guarantee that its security measures will be sufficient 
to prevent a material disruption, breach or compromise in the 
future. As a result, the Group’s activities and assets could su-
stain serious damage, services to clients could be interrup-
ted, material intellectual property could be divulged and, in 
some cases, personal injury, property damage, environmental 
harm and regulatory violations could occur.

If any of the risks set out above materialise, they could adver-
sely impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liqui-
dity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder 

returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for 
stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s share.

Violations of data protection laws carry fines and expose us 
and/or our employees to criminal sanctions and civil suits
Data protection laws and regulations apply to Eni and its joint 
ventures and associates in the vast majority of Countries in whi-
ch we do business. The EU General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) came into effect in May 2018 and increased penalties 
up to a maximum of 4% of global annual turnover for breach of 
the regulation. The GDPR requires mandatory breach notifica-
tion, a standard also followed outside of the EU (particularly in 
Asia). Non-compliance with data protection laws could expose 
us to regulatory investigations, which could result in fines and 
penalties as well as harm our reputation. In addition to impo-
sing fines, regulators may also issue orders to stop processing 
personal data, which could disrupt operations. We could also be 
subject to litigation from persons or corporations allegedly af-
fected by data protection violations. Violation of data protection 
laws is a criminal offence in some Countries, and individuals 
can be imprisoned or fined.

If any of the risks set out above materialise, they could adver-
sely impact the Group’s results of operations, cash flow, liqui-
dity, business prospects, financial condition, and shareholder 
returns, including dividends, the amount of funds available for 
stock repurchases and the price of Eni’s shares.
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Outlook

The latest business trends are the following.
The Eni’s industrial plan 2021 forecasts a crude oil price for 
the Brent benchmark at 50 $/barrel, a standard Eni’ refining 
margins “SERM” of 3.8 $/barrel and a EUR/USD exchange 
rate of 1.19. Under these assumptions, management plans to 
generate in 2021 enough cash flow from operations to fund 
the organic capital expenditures (excluding acquisitions), as 
well as to cover a portion of the floor dividend.
In the first quarter of 2021, the Brent crude oil price sharply 
increased thanks to the accelerated economic recovery in 
Asia, signs of recovery in the United States and the production 
discipline of OPEC+, recording an average price of around 

61 $/barrel, while the refining margin reported a significant 
negative trend due to the increase in the cost of feedstock 
without resumption of fuel demand in the reference markets 
(mainly in Italy and western Europe).
Considering the outlook for 2021, management estimates 
that the Company’s cash flow from operations will vary by 
approximately €150 million for each one-dollar change in the 
price of the Brent crude oil benchmark and for proportional 
changes in gas prices; similarly, management estimates a 
change of cash flow of approximately €160 million per each 
one-dollar change in the SERM.


